# USING FLUORESCENT AND NON-FLUORESCENT STEROLS TO STUDY RAFTS AND INTRACELLULAR CHOLESTEROL TRANSPORT IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

Maurice A.J. Jansen

Institute of Biomedicine/Anatomy Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki



Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No. 146

# ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki in Lecture Hall 2, Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on January 28<sup>th</sup>, 2011 at 12 noon

Helsinki 2011

Supervisor

Professor Elina Ikonen Institute of Biomedicine, Anatomy University of Helsinki Finland

#### Reviewers

Docent Matti Jauhiainen National Institute for Health and Welfare Department of Chronic Disease Prevention Helsinki Finland

Professor Teymuras Kurzchalia Max Planck Institute of Molecular Cell Biology and Genetics Dresden Germany

#### Opponent

Professor Ole G. Mouritsen Director, MEMPHYS – Center for Biomembrane Physics Department of Physics and Chemistry University of Southern Denmark Odense Denmark

© Maurice Jansen 2011 ISSN 1457-8433 ISBN 978-952-10-6801-0 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-6802-7 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Kopio Niini Oy Helsinki 2011

# Contents

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
ABSTRACT	8
INTRODUCTION	10
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
1. Cell biology of cholesterol	12
1.1 Cholesterol in biological membranes	12
1.2 Cellular cholesterol homeostasis	14
1.3 Subcellular distribution of cholesterol	19
1.4 Intracellular cholesterol transport	20
2. Ordered membrane domains	23
2.1 Membrane rafts	23
2.2 Ordered domains in model membranes	25
2.3 Caveolae	26
3. Cholesterol analogs as a tool	29
3.1 Fluorescent cholesterol probes	29
3.2 Structure/function analysis using cholesterol analogs	33
4. Oxysterol binding protein related proteins	36
4.1 A conserved family of lipid transfer proteins	36
4.2 ORP protein domains	38
4.3 Role of ORPs in sterol transport	39
AIMS OF THE STUDY	41
METHODS	42
1. Model membrane experiments	42
2. Biochemical procedures	43
3. Fluorescence microscopy assays	46
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	49
1. Desmosterol as a tool to study ordered membrane domains	49
1.1 Desmosterol cannot fully replace cholesterol in ordered membrane domains	49
1.2 Desmosterol can replace most cellular functions of cholesterol	52
1.3 Using desmosterol to analyze caveolae	54
1.4 Discussion	57
2. Using BODIPY-cholesterol to study intracellular sterol transport	59

2.1 Characterizing BODIPY-cholesterol as a tool for studying cholesterol transport	59
2.2 ORP dependent transport of cholesterol to the ER and lipid droplets	62
2.3 VAP proteins are involved in cholesterol transport by stabilizing ORPs	65
2.4 Discussion	66
CONCLUSIONS	71
PERSPECTIVES	72
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	74
LITERATURE	76

#### **ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS**

This thesis is based on the following original research articles, which are referred to in the text by their assigned Roman numerals.

- Vainio S, Jansen M, Koivusalo M, Rog T, Karttunen M, Vattulainen I, Ikonen E. Significance of sterol structural specificity. Desmosterol cannot replace cholesterol in lipid rafts. *J Biol Chem* 2006, 281:348-55.
- II. Jansen M\*, Pietiäinen VM\*, Pölönen H, Rasilainen L, Koivusalo M, Ruotsalainen U, Jokitalo E, Ikonen E. Cholesterol substitution increases the structural heterogeneity of caveolae. J Biol Chem 2008, 283:14610-8. (\*, shared first authors)
- III. Jansen M, Ohsaki Y, Rega L, Bittman R, Olkkonen VM, Ikonen E. Role of ORPs in sterol transport from plasma membrane to ER and lipid droplets in mammalian cells. *Traffic* 2010. [Epub ahead of print]

# ABBREVIATIONS

12-SLPC	1-palmitoyl-2-(12-doxyl)stearoylphosphatidylcholine
20,25-DAC	20,25-diazacholesterol
ABCA1	ATP-binding cassette transporter A-I
ACAT	acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase
ADRP	adipocyte differentiation-related protein
Ag⁺-HPLC	silver ion high performance liquid chromatography
APOA-I	apolipoprotein A-I
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BODIPY	boron dipyrromethene difluoride
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CERT	ceramide transporter
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary
СоА	coenzyme A
DHCR24	24-dehydrocholesterol reductase
DOPC	dioleoyl phosphatidylcholine
DPH	1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene
DPPC	dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine
DRM	detergent resistant membrane
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERC	endocytic recycling compartment
FFAT	two phenylalanines in an acidic tract
FRAP	fluorescence recovery after photobleaching
FRET	fluorescence resonance energy transfer
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol
HMG	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl
HMGR	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl reductase
HPTLC	high performance thin layer chromatography
HDL	high density lipoprotein
L <sub>d</sub>	liquid-disordered
LDL	low density lipoprotein
Lo	liquid-ordered
LPDS	lipoprotein depleted serum
LTP	lipid transfer protein
LXR	liver X receptor
MβCD	methyl-β-cyclodextrin
MLV	multilamellar vesicle
NBD	7-nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl
NPC	Niemann-Pick type C

ORD	OSBP related domain
ORP	OSBP related protein
OSBP	oxysterol binding protein
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine
PG	phosphatidylglycerol
PH	pleckstrin homology
PI	phosphatidylinositol
SCAP	SREBP cleavage activating protein
SCP-2	sterol carrier protein-2
So	solid-ordered
SR-AI	scavenger receptor class A type 1
SREBP	sterol recognition element binding protein
START	StAR related lipid transfer
STED	stimulated emission depletion
TIRF	total internal reflection
TLC	thin layer chromatography
T <sub>m</sub>	melting temperature
TMA-DPH	N,N,N-Trimethyl-4-(6-phenyl-1,3,5-hexatrien-1-yl)phenylammonium
UV	ultra violet
VAMP	vesicle associated membrane protein
VAP	VAMP associating protein

#### ABSTRACT

Cholesterol is an essential component in the membranes of most eukaryotic cells, in which it mediates many functions including membrane fluidity, permeability and the formation of ordered membrane domains. In this work a fluorescent and a non-fluorescent cholesterol analog were characterized as tools to study cholesterol. Next, these analogs were used to study two specific cell biological processes that involve cholesterol, i.e. the structure and function of ordered membrane domains/rafts and intracellular cholesterol transport.

The most common method for studying ordered membrane domains is by disrupting them by cholesterol depletion. Because cholesterol depletion affects many cellular functions besides those mediated by membrane domains, this procedure is highly unspecific. The cellular exchange of cholesterol by desmosterol as a tool to study ordered membrane domains was characterized. It turned out that the ability of desmosterol to form and stabilize membrane domains in vitro was weaker compared to cholesterol. This result was reinforced by atomistic scale simulations that indicated that desmosterol has a lower ordering effect on phospholipid acyl chains. Three procedures were established for exchanging cellular cholesterol by desmosterol. In cells in which desmosterol was the main sterol, insulin signaling was attenuated. The results suggest that this was caused by desmosterol destabilizing membrane rafts. Contrary to its effect on ordered membrane domains it was found that replacing cholesterol by desmosterol does not change cell growth/viability, subcellular sterol distribution, Golgi integrity, secretory pathway, phospholipid composition and membrane fluidity. Together these results suggest that exchanging cellular cholesterol by desmosterol provides a selective tool for perturbing rafts. Next, the importance of cholesterol for the structure and function of caveolae was analyzed by exchanging the cellular cholesterol by desmosterol. The sterol exchange reduced the stability of caveolae as determined by detergent resistance of caveolin-1 and heat resistance of caveolin-1 oligomers. In addition, the sterol exchange led to aberrations in the caveolar structure; the morphology of caveolae was altered and there was a larger variation in the amount of caveolin-1 molecules per caveola. These results demonstrate that cholesterol is important for caveolar stability and structural homogeneity.

In the second part of this work a fluorescent cholesterol analog was characterized as a tool to study cholesterol transport. Tight control of the intracellular cholesterol distribution is essential for many cellular processes. An important mechanism by which cells regulate their membrane cholesterol content is cholesterol traffic, mostly from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets. The fluorescent sterol probe BODIPY-cholesterol was characterized as a tool to analyze cholesterol transport between the plasma membrane, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and lipid droplets. The behavior of BODIPY-cholesterol was compared to that of natural sterols, using both biochemical and live-cell microcopy assays. The results show that the transport kinetics of BODIPY-cholesterol between the plasma membrane, the ER and lipid droplets is similar to that of unesterified cholesterol. Next, BODIPY-cholesterol was utilized

to analyze the importance of oxysterol binding protein related proteins (ORPs) for cholesterol transport between the plasma membrane, the ER, and lipid droplets in mammalian cells. By overexpressing all human ORPs it turned out that especially ORP1S and ORP2 enhanced sterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets. Our results suggest that the increased sterol transport takes place between the plasma membrane and ER and not between the ER and lipid droplets. Simultaneous knockdown of ORP1S and ORP2 resulted in a moderate but significant inhibition of sterol traffic from the plasma membrane to ER and lipid droplets, suggesting a physiological role for these ORPs in this process. The two phenylalanines in an acidic tract (FFAT) motif in ORPs, which mediates interaction with vesicle associated membrane protein associated proteins (VAPs) in the ER, was not necessary for mediating sterol transport. However, VAP silencing slowed down sterol transport, most likely by destabilizing ORPs containing a FFAT motif.

## INTRODUCTION

Since its discovery as the main component of gallstones, cholesterol (chol: gall and stereos: solid) has remained a molecule with a dubious reputation. By the public, cholesterol is probably best known for its involvement in cardiovascular disease, which is the main cause of death in the Western world (Lewington et al., 2007). Other cholesterol related disorders are Alzheimer's disease, Niemann-Pick type C (NPC) disease, Familial hypercholesterolemia, Tangier disease and several biosynthetic disorders including Desmosterolosis and Smith-Lemli-Opitz Syndrome. It is interesting to point out that clinical treatment of cholesterol related disorders related disorders is a profitable enterprise. For example, a cholesterol lowering drug from Pfizer called Lipitor (Atorvastatin) is at the moment the best selling drug of all time.

It is generally less well known that cholesterol is required for the growth and development of nearly all animals and eukaryotic cells. Cholesterol has been found to be one of the most functionally diverse molecules in biology. For instance, it serves as a precursor for many types of biologically active compounds including, steroid hormones, bile acids, oxysterols and vitamin D. However, the most general function of cholesterol among eukaryotic species is as a structural component of biological membranes. In cellular membranes, cholesterol is a unique constituent that regulates diverse properties including membrane permeability, fluidity, and ordered domain formation.

Because cholesterol is involved in many aspects of biology it is not surprising that much research has been focused on this small molecule. Several Nobel prizes have been awarded to researchers that studied cholesterol (http://nobelprize.org): Windaus and Wieland for solving its molecular structure, Bloch and Lynen for elucidating its biosynthetic pathway, and Brown and Goldstein for discovering receptor mediated uptake of cholesterol by cells. Despite these key discoveries there are many aspects of the biology of cholesterol which remain unclear. For example, it is poorly understood how cholesterol, after uptake by the cell, is transported between different cellular organelles. Another example is the role of cholesterol in ordered membrane domains. These cholesterol enriched membrane assemblies have been suggested to be important for many cellular functions but detailed understanding regarding their structure and function is still lacking.

Relatively little is known about the cellular behavior of cholesterol and other lipids compared to the knowledge of proteins and nucleic acids. An important reason for this difference is the lack of good tools to study the cellular behavior of lipids. For example, the discovery of green fluorescent protein (GFP) enabled the visualization of proteins in living cells and caused a breakthrough in cell-biology (Chalfie et al., 1994). Unfortunately, this technology does not apply to lipids and the lack of good fluorescent cholesterol probes has hampered biological research on cholesterol. In this work, a fluorescent and a non-fluorescent cholesterol analog were characterized as tools to study specific cell biological aspects of cholesterol, i.e. the structure and function of ordered membrane domains/rafts

and intracellular cholesterol transport. Furthermore, this work revealed the importance of cholesterol for the stability of caveolae and uncovered roles for ORPs and VAPs in cholesterol transport to the ER and lipid droplets in mammalian cells.

# **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

- 1. Cell biology of cholesterol
- 1.1 Cholesterol in biological membranes

## **Biological membranes**

Biological membranes are continuous barriers both around and within cells. They are around 5 nm thick and define enclosed compartments; either the cell itself or intracellular membrane bound organelles (Figure 1A). The membranes are structurally composed of a bilayer of amphiphathic lipids. These lipids contain a polar head group and a hydrophobic tail region. Lipid bilayers can form spontaneously upon dispersion of certain lipids in water. Lipids reduce the energetically unfavorable interaction between hydrophilic water and their hydrophobic tails by aligning their tails towards the center of the bilayer, leaving only their polar headgroup to interact with the water molecules (Figure 1B). Due to their hydrophobic interior, lipid bilayers are largely impermeable to polar compounds. This enables them to function as selective permeability barriers. Other important membrane functions are signal transduction, energy transduction, vesicular transport, cell adhesion and cell motility. These functions are mediated by membrane proteins which can make up to 50% of the total membrane weight. In 1972 Singer and Nicolson proposed the influential fluid mosaic model which stated that lipids and proteins can diffuse freely within the membrane (Singer and Nicolson, 1972). Although some aspects of this model are still valid today, it is now known that within the fluid membrane there are stable structures including protein complexes, cytoskeletal barriers and ordered membrane domains.



Figure 1. Biological membranes. A) Schematic drawing of a cell indicating the membranes that define the cell itself (plasma membrane) the Golgi complex and the ER. For simplicity other organelles are omitted. B) Schematic drawing of a lipid bilayer. Circles represent the hydrophilic headgroups and the lines represent the hydrophobic tail regions.

#### Membrane lipids

The major classes of lipids in biological membranes are glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids and cholesterol (Figure 2). Glycerophospholipids have a glycerol backbone which is linked by oxy-ester bonds to two fatty acids (hydrophobic tail region) and one phosphate or a phosphate attached to an alcohol (polar head group). Glycerophospholipids are subdivided in types depending on their head group. The major types are (PC), phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylethanolamine phosphatidylcholine (PE), phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylglycerol (PG). Sphingolipids consist of a sphingosine backbone which is attached to a fatty acid and a polar headgroup. The head group can either be phospho-choline making up sphingomyelin (the most prominent sphingolipid in mammalian membranes) or one or more sugar groups making up the glycolipids. The different types of glycerophospho- and sphingolipids are further subdivided by the length and degree of unsaturation of their acyl chains. Due to the permutations of these structural features the cellular lipidome is theoretically composed of thousands of glycerophospholipids and more than 100,000 species of sphingolipids (Yetukuri et al., 2008). Although it is not exactly known why there are so many lipids, certain structural features have been linked to membrane functions. For instance, lipids with long and saturated acyl chains form closely packed membranes. On the other hand, unsaturated acyl chains are more kinked, resulting in weaker van der Waals interactions and more fluid membranes. Regulation of membrane thickness and fluidity has been shown to be important for the functioning of specific proteins and the membrane barrier function. Another example how lipids influence membrane function is illustrated by the concept of hydrophobic matching described by the mattress model (Mouritsen and Bloom, 1984); the thickness of a membrane with respect to the length of the hydrophobic part of an integral membrane protein is important for the lipid-protein interaction and can influence protein function and localization. However, despite the progress made over the last decades, we are only beginning to understand how lipids and proteins work in concert to enable biological membranes to function.





*Figure 2. Structures of phosphatidylcholine, sphingomyelin and cholesterol. Blue areas indicate the hydrophilic headgroup and the red areas indicated the hydrophobic tail region.* 

## Membrane properties of cholesterol

Cholesterol is a unique lipid that is present in large amounts in the membranes of eukaryotic cells. The presence of cholesterol drastically alters the biophysical properties of biological membranes. One of the major effects of cholesterol is the promotion of acyl chain order. In solution, acyl chains are very flexible structures; since the carbon-carbon single bonds can freely rotate, acyl chains can bend in all directions. In a membrane, acyl chains are more ordered since they are oriented parallel to each other by the forces that drive bilayer formation. Cholesterol within a membrane will position itself between acyl chains, thereby causing tighter packing and increased order. This phenomenon is clearly illustrated by the cholesterol condensing effect; the average area occupied per molecule in a cholesterol phospholipid bilayer is smaller than the sum of areas of the individual components (Stockton and Smith, 1976).

There are several models that attempt to explain the physical origin of the effect of cholesterol on acyl chain order. The *condensed complex model* proposes a chemical interaction between cholesterol and the acyl chains (McConnell and Radhakrishnan, 2003). This interaction forces the acyl chains to straighten and form more ordered and tightly packed membranes. The *umbrella model*, which is related to the more general *superlattice model* (Somerharju et al., 2009), postulates that hydrophobic cholesterol relies on polar phospholipid head group coverage to avoid the unfavorable free energy of cholesterol contact with water (Huang and Feigenson, 1999). Because cholesterol now occupies the limited space under the phospholipid head groups, the acyl chains are forced together.

Besides its influence on acyl chain order, cholesterol has various other effects on biophysical membrane properties. Cholesterol is known to decrease membrane permeability (Corvera et al., 1992). This phenomenon is partly caused by the increase membrane thickness that results from the straightening of the acyl chains. Other effects of cholesterol on membranes include: thermomechanics, lateral diffusion and binding of solutes. These aspects are reviewed in more detail in (Mouritsen and Zuckermann, 2004). Arguably, the most distinctive feature of cholesterol in biological membranes is its ability to form ordered domains within a liquid bilayer. This unique property of cholesterol will be discussed in more detail in the chapter on ordered membrane domains.

# 1.2 Cellular cholesterol homeostasis

Because cholesterol is involved in various essential cellular processes and because excess free-cholesterol is toxic for cells, regulation of cholesterol levels is of vital importance. This regulation is a highly dynamic process since cells continually exchange cholesterol with their environment and constantly need cholesterol for cell division. The level of cellular cholesterol follows from several processes including cholesterol biosynthesis, uptake, efflux

and subcellular storage. In order to coordinate these different processes, cells have evolved feedback mechanisms that tightly regulate cholesterol homeostasis.

#### **Biosynthesis**

The biosynthesis of cholesterol is a process consisting of more than 30 enzymatic reactions which mostly take place in the ER. The biosynthetic pathway (Figure 3) was elucidated mainly by the work of Konrad Bloch (Bloch, 1965), who received the Nobel Prize in medicine in 1964 for these efforts. The synthesis starts with acetyl-coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), which is also important for the biosynthesis of fatty acids, amongst other compounds. The first step of the synthesis is a condensation reaction of acetyl-CoA and its derivative acetoacetyl-CoA. This gives 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA), which is subsequently reduced by an enzyme called HMG-CoA reductase (HMGR). This step is rate limiting for cholesterol biosynthesis and produces mevalonate. Statins, the pharmacological compounds that lower blood cholesterol levels, inhibit this reaction. Mevalonate is further converted into the fivecarbon isopentyl pyrophosphate. This is the basic unit used for the synthesis of all isoprenoids, which comprises a large class of molecules that includes menthol and cannabinoids. On a side note, because statins inhibit cholesterol biosynthesis at such an early step, they not only inhibit the production of cholesterol but also disrupt the biosynthesis of all other isoprenoids. In the next step of the biosynthesis, the 5-carbon isopentylpyrophosphate condenses with itself in multiple steps to form the 30-carbon squalene. Finally squalene is converted to lanosterol, which contains the tetracyclic ring structure that is characteristic for all sterols. After the synthesis of lanosterol the biosynthesis of cholesterol proceeds with a 19-step process requiring 9 different enzymes (Gaylor, 2002). The different steps include the formation, removal and isomerization of carbon-carbon double bonds and the removal of methyl groups. Two routes involving the same enzymes have been proposed, differing only in the timing of the reduction of the carbon-24 double bond. Consequently, cholesterol biosynthesis can proceed with either desmosterol (Bloch pathway) or 7-dehydrocholesterol (Kandutsch-Russell pathway) as the penultimate precursor of cholesterol. Even though specific cell types prefer one pathway over the other, the functional relevance of having two pathways is unknown.



Figure 3. Biosynthesis of cholesterol. A) The biosynthesis of squalene from acetyl-CoA. B) After the conversion of squalene to lanosterol the biosynthesis of cholesterol can proceed either through the Bloch pathway (left) or Kandutsch-Russell pathway (right). Structural differences from cholesterol are indicated with red (additional methyl group) and blue dots (carbon-carbon bond saturation).

#### Uptake

Besides biosynthesis, mammalian cells can acquire cholesterol, mostly in its esterified form, through uptake of lipoprotein particles from the extracellular environment. This process, called *forward cholesterol transport*, is mainly facilitated by receptor mediated uptake of low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles, which has been characterized mostly by the work of Brown and Goldstein (Brown and Goldstein, 1986). After extracellular LDL binds its receptor on the cell surface, the complex relocalizes to clathrin coated pits that pinch off from the plasma membrane to form an endocytic vesicle. In most familial hypercholesterolemia patients this process is disrupted because of mutations in the LDL receptor; this causes blood LDL levels to rise which increases the risk of developing cardiovascular disease via the atherosclerotic process. After internalization, the complex travels down the endocytic route. Meanwhile, the pH within the endosomes decreases, causing LDL to dissociate from its receptor. After this, the receptor can either be transported back to the plasma membrane or be targeted for degradation. The cholesterol esters continue to move down the endosomal route and are hydrolyzed by a protein called lysosomal acid lipase. Exit of cholesterol from the endosomal compartment is mediated by the proteins NPC1 and NPC2. It is not entirely clear how the NPC proteins function but there is evidence that soluble NPC2 extracts cholesterol from LDL and delivers it to membrane-associated NPC1 that incorporates the sterol in the late-endosomal/lysosomal membrane (Kwon et al., 2009). The cholesterol is then mixed with the preexisting pool of cellular cholesterol by an unknown mechanism. It is worth noting that the internalization of oxidized LDL by macrophages, a process important for the development of atherosclerosis, is mediated through a different route involving scavenger receptor class A type 1 (SR-AI) and CD36. Furthermore, in adrenocortical cells, SR-BI also facilitates uptake of LDL.

#### Efflux

Because mammalian cells are unable to break down cholesterol, cells need to secrete cholesterol in order to remove it. The cellular secretion of cholesterol by non-hepatic cells is often referred to as *reverse cholesterol transport* and involves the delivery of cholesterol to extracellular acceptors. An important acceptor is apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) which accepts cholesterol through the action of ATP binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1), the protein defective in Tangier disease. By accumulating lipids, nascent apoA-I containing particles mature to spherical high density lipoprotein (HDL) particles. In turn, spherical HDL also acts as a cholesterol acceptor. This type of efflux is mediated by two other ABC–transporters, namely ABCG1 and ABCG4 (Wang et al., 2004). After cholesterol is secreted to the blood in HDL particles it can be taken up by liver cells via the function of SR-BI that facilitates selective cholesterol ester uptake from HDL (Acton et al., 1996). In the liver, ABCG5/ABCG8 are involved in the secretion of cholesterol into the bile (Graf et al., 2003).

#### Cholesterol storage in lipid droplets

Cells can regulate their subcellular cholesterol levels by deposition of cholesterol in lipid droplets. Lipid droplets are cellular organelles that function as storage sites for cholesterol and fatty acids, thereby controlling the fat energy reserves of cells. Lipid droplets are also essential for regulating the levels of cholesterol and fatty acids that are present in cellular membranes. This is done by rapidly enabling cholesterol and fatty acids to be deposited and extracted in periods of excess and deficiency (Martin and Parton, 2005). The amount of cholesterol stored in lipid droplets varies among cell types and depends on the metabolic state of the cell. The lipids are stored in a hydrophobic core which is surrounded by a lipid monolayer (Tauchi-Sato et al., 2002). Although lipid droplets contain some free cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT), which is present in the ER, catalyzes the esterification of cholesterol with a fatty acid. For unknown reasons, adipocytes, which are specialized in cholesterol and triacylglyceride storage, store cholesterol in its unesterified form (Schreibman and Dell, 1975).

# Regulation of cholesterol homeostasis

In order to maintain cholesterol homeostasis, the processes that mediate cholesterol biosynthesis, uptake, efflux, and storage, are tightly regulated by several feedback mechanisms. An important transcriptional regulatory mechanism is mediated by sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) (Brown and Goldstein, 1997). SREBP is a transmembrane protein which is kept in the ER by binding to SREBP cleavage activating protein (SCAP). When cholesterol levels are high, the sterol sensing domain in SCAP binds cholesterol. This causes SCAP to bind a protein called Insig, resulting in retention of the entire complex in the ER. When cholesterol levels are low, a conformational change in the sterol sensing domain of SCAP abrogates its binding with Insig. As a result the SCAP SREBP complex is transported to the Golgi complex in COPII vesicles. Upon arrival in the Golgi, SREBP gets cleaved releasing a transcription factor that activates the expression of genes containing a sterol regulatory element promoter. Many of these genes encode proteins that are involved in increasing the cellular cholesterol content, including several enzymes involved in cholesterol biosynthesis and the LDL-receptor. Another transcriptional regulatory mechanism is mediated by Liver X receptors (LXRs) that sense cellular sterol levels by binding to oxidized derivatives of cholesterol. Upon activation, LXRs alter the transcription of proteins involved in reverse cholesterol transport (Tontonoz and Mangelsdorf, 2003). Finally, it should be noted that cholesterol homeostasis can also be regulated by post-transcriptional mechanisms. For instance, a rise in cholesterol levels causes HMGR to bind Insig, resulting in the degradation of HMGR by the proteasome (Sever et al., 2003).

## 1.3 Subcellular distribution of cholesterol

# Cholesterol content of cellular organelles

It has become clear that cholesterol is unevenly distributed over the membranes of different cellular compartments. The ER, where cholesterol is synthesized and its levels are regulated, is relatively poor in cholesterol. Yvonne Lange and colleagues analyzed in cell homogenates the pool of cholesterol that could be acylated by ACAT, a protein that is present in the ER (Lange and Steck, 1997). They found that, depending on growth conditions, 0.1-2% of total cellular cholesterol could react with ACAT. The authors suggested that this fraction represents the pool of ER cholesterol. The lab of Brown and Goldstein isolated ER membranes in a 4-step process and found that cholesterol constitutes 5% of all ER lipids (Radhakrishnan et al., 2008). Even though these results are not directly comparable, they both agree on low ER cholesterol content. It seems likely that this low concentration facilitates the SCAP-SREBP complex to sense small changes in cholesterol levels. Plasma membrane cholesterol can be analyzed by cholesterol oxidase treatment. When added to the cells, this enzyme converts cholesterol in the plasma membrane to cholestenone without modifying intracellular cholesterol (Slotte et al., 1989). Cholesterol oxidase treatment and subcellular fractionation studies agree that 65-80% of cellular cholesterol resides in the plasma membrane and that around 1 out of 3 plasma membrane lipids is cholesterol (Liscum and Munn, 1999; Warnock et al., 1993). In the Golgi the cholesterol concentration lies in between that of the ER and plasma membrane (van Meer, 1998). Furthermore, the concentration appears to increase from the *cis* to *trans* direction (Coxey et al., 1993). Taken together, it appears that the cholesterol concentration in cellular membranes increases along the secretory pathway. Other organelles with high cholesterol levels are the endocytic recycling compartment (ERC) (Hao et al., 2002) and internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies (Mobius et al., 2003), whereas mitochondria, which are involved in steroidogenesis, and lysosomes are generally cholesterol poor (Mobius et al., 2003; Severs, 1982).

## Underlying theories for cholesterol gradient

It is not clear how the concentration gradient of cholesterol is maintained among the different membranes. One theory suggests that the amount of cholesterol in a particular membrane is determined by its affinity towards that membrane (Lange and Steck, 2008; Phillips et al., 1987). This affinity is proposed to be dependent on the lipid composition of the membrane. Experimental evidence for this theory came from studies analyzing the desorption rate of lipids from lipid monolayers. Cholesterol associated in a sphingomyelin monolayer desorbs more slowly than from a PC monolayer (Ohvo and Slotte, 1996), and furthermore, higher acyl chain unsaturation increases cholesterol desorption (Ramstedt and Slotte, 1999). Indeed the plasma membrane, which is rich in cholesterol, has a high degree of fatty acid saturation and is enriched in sphingomyelin. The affinity/stabilization of cholesterol in various membranes can be explained by the *condensed complex model* (see 1.1 Cholesterol in membranes). The *condensed complex model* argues that cholesterol forms more stable complexes with some lipids compared to others. It has been shown experimentally that the van der Waals interactions between cholesterol and acyl chains are strongest when the hydrocarbon chains are saturated (Chong et al., 1994). It should be noted that alternatively, the cholesterol gradient could be maintained by selective energy driven cholesterol transport. However, there is no convincing evidence for this theory.

## 1.4 Intracellular cholesterol transport

In order to maintain its subcellular cholesterol distribution, cells have to traffic cholesterol from the sites of biosynthesis and internalization towards other compartments. In general, lipid transport can be divided into vesicular and non-vesicular mechanisms. Although cholesterol has been found in the membranes of both secretory and endocytic vesicles (Brugger et al., 2000; Mobius et al., 2003), there is growing evidence that most cholesterol traffic between cellular compartments is mediated by non-vesicular transport. This transport appears to be facilitated by different families of lipid transfer proteins (LTPs). These are soluble proteins with a hydrophobic binding domain capable of trafficking lipids between membranes *in vitro*. There is also evidence for the involvement of membrane contact sites. The ER has been shown to be in close contact with most other cellular compartments (Loewen et al., 2003). These sites would be ideal for efficient non-vesicular lipid transport and some LTPs have been shown to function at sites of close membrane approximation (Schulz et al., 2009). Finally, it should be noted that although some of the players have been revealed, the precise mechanisms of cellular cholesterol transport remain unknown.

## Plasma membrane-ER transport

An important cholesterol transport route is between the ER, where cholesterol is synthesized, and the plasma membrane, where most cholesterol is present. Transport from the ER to the plasma membrane can be analyzed by monitoring the arrival of newly synthesized cholesterol at the plasma membrane. By biochemically isolating plasma membranes, Simoni and colleagues found that cholesterol is transported to the plasma membrane with a halftime of 10-20 min in an energy dependent manner (DeGrella and Simoni, 1982). Yvonne Lange and colleagues detected plasma membrane arrival of cholesterol by analyzing its conversion by extracellular cholesterol oxidase. They found a transport halftime of around 30 min (Lange et al., 1991). Brefeldin A treatment, disrupting the Golgi and secretory transport, has little effect on the transport kinetics (Heino et al., 2000; Urbani and Simoni, 1990). In yeast SEC mutants, with conditional defects in proteins required for ER-plasma membrane vesicular transport, there is either no block or a partial block in cholesterol traffic (Baumann et al., 2005; Schnabl et al., 2005). The reverse route, cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane back to the ER, can be analyzed by labeling the plasma membrane with a radioactive-cholesterol isotope and monitoring its esterification in the ER. Also this transport is not inhibited in several yeast SEC mutants (Li and Prinz, 2004). Furthermore, this transport was shown to be independent of ATP or other treatments that affect vesicular transport (Skiba et al., 1996). Taken together these results indicate that cholesterol can move between the plasma membrane and ER in a nonvesicular fashion. Insights into the mechanisms of non-vesicular transport have emerged from research on ORPs, a family of LTPs, which will be discussed in more detail in chapter 4.

## Transport to lipid droplets

The deposition of cholesterol in lipid droplets is essential for maintaining cholesterol homeostasis. Most cholesterol moving into lipid droplets comes from the plasma membrane (Lange et al., 1993). Using the fluorescent cholesterol probe dehydroergosterol, it was shown that cholesterol moves independent of metabolic energy to lipid droplets with a halftime of 1.5 min (Wustner et al., 2005). It is not known how cholesterol and cholesterol esters move to lipid droplets. There is evidence that cholesterol targeted to lipid droplets moves through the ER. Cholesterol esters are synthesized by ACAT in the ER and are either packed directly in lipoprotein particles (only by specialized cell types) or stored in lipid droplets. Furthermore, lipid droplets have been visualized in close proximity to the ER membrane (Ohsaki et al., 2008). The prevailing theory of lipid droplet biogenesis states that they originate from lipid accumulations between the leaflets of the ER membrane (Murphy and Vance, 1999; Ohsaki et al., 2009). It is possible that after formation, the lipid monolayer that surrounds lipid droplets remains continuous with the ER, ensuring lipid transport through lateral diffusion. Alternatively, membrane contact sites between the ER and lipid

droplets might be involved. Although the ER is probably the direct source for lipid droplet cholesterol, so far no proteins have been implicated in cholesterol transfer between the ER and lipid droplets.

# Other routes and transporters

Maxfield and colleagues studied sterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ERC using the dehydroergosterol and radiolabeled-cholesterol (Hao et al., 2002). They found that traffic was fast (halftime of 2.5 min) and independent of ATP, which suggests that the transport is non-vesicular. Surprisingly, dehydroergosterol transport out of the ERC did require metabolic energy and was suggested by the authors to be mediated by a vesicular pathway.

Cholesterol has to be transported to the inner mitochondrial membrane in order to be converted to pregnenolone, the first step of steroid biosynthesis. Cholesterol movement from the outer to the inner mitochondrial membrane has been shown to be mediated by steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) (Miller, 2007; Rone et al., 2009). In humans, there are at least 14 other StAR related lipid transfer (START) proteins (Alpy and Tomasetto, 2005). An important member of this family is ceramide transporter (CERT), which has been shown to transport ceramide, a precursor of sphingolipid biosynthesis, from the ER to the Golgi. Two other members, STARD3 (MLN64) and STARD5, have been shown to bind cholesterol (Rodriguez-Agudo et al., 2005; Tsujishita and Hurley, 2000). There is evidence that these proteins are involved in cholesterol transport to the outer mitochondrial membrane (Charman et al., 2010; Soccio et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2002), but a detailed molecular mechanism is lacking.

Another LTP, sterol carrier protein 2 (SCP-2), promotes the exchange of sterols between membranes *in vitro* and its expression affects sterol trafficking in certain tissue culture systems (Baum et al., 1997; Pfeifer et al., 1993; Puglielli et al., 1995; Seedorf et al., 2000). However, the apparent lack of specificity for cholesterol and its predominant localization in peroxisomes argue against a role for SCP-2 as a sterol transporter (Seedorf et al., 2000). This was further corroborated by studies using SCP-2 knockout mice where, rather than a role in cholesterol transport, SCP-2 was related to the peroxisomal oxidation of certain fatty acyl-CoAs (Seedorf et al., 1998). Finally, another protein shown to be involved in cholesterol transport is caveolin, which will be discussed in more detail in section 2.3.

## 2. Ordered membrane domains

This chapter discusses different types of ordered membrane domains in both cells and model membranes. The most important ordered membrane domains in cells are called rafts and caveolae (a subtype of raft). One feature all these domains have in common is their dependence on cholesterol. Here, I will focus on ordered membrane domain structure, the methods of analysis and the importance of cholesterol.

# 2.1 Membrane rafts

Although there had been for some time evidence for the existence of lipid domains (Karnovsky et al., 1982) this phenomenon only started to get wider attention when Simons and van Meer found a functional application. They showed that NBD-glucocylceramide gets sorted from the Golgi to the apical membrane of epithelial cells (van Meer et al., 1987) and postulated the involvement of lipid domains enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids (Simons and van Meer, 1988). These lipid domains, termed rafts, started to get wide recognition outside the lipid field after the publication of a review which described the concept (Simons and Ikonen, 1997). A consensus definition of a membrane raft emerged at a keystone symposium in 2006 on Lipid Rafts and Cell Function (Pike, 2006): "Membrane rafts are small (10-200 nm), heterogeneous, highly dynamic, sterol- and sphingolipid-enriched domains that compartmentalize in cellular processes. Small rafts can sometimes be stabilized to form larger platforms through protein-protein interaction". A wide array of cellular processes has been shown to be mediated by rafts including membrane trafficking, signal transduction, cell adhesion and endocytosis. Below are discussed the main techniques for studying membrane rafts in cells.

# Studying rafts: detergent resistance, cholesterol removal and clustering

Detergent resistance of certain lipids and proteins has been an important tool for raft analysis. Detergent resistance was first used to support the raft hypothesis by a study by Brown and Rose. They showed that, *en route* to the apical membrane, GPI anchored proteins become associated with a detergent resistant membrane (DRM) fraction which was enriched in sphingolipids (Brown and Rose, 1992). Since then, detergent resistance has grown to become a useful tool for studying potential raft association of proteins, especially when DRM association can be triggered by a physiologically meaningful event (Lingwood and Simons, 2010). However, it should be noted that DRMs are artifactual entities that do not exist in living cells. Furthermore, detergent resistance does not always indicate raft association of a protein (Shogomori and Brown, 2003). Another important advance in the raft field came from the discovery that deprivation of cholesterol decreased the detergent resistance of a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchored protein (Hanada et al., 1995). Later it was shown that by selectively depleting cholesterol from the plasma membrane using the sterol carrier methyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (M $\beta$ CD) the influenza virus protein hemagglutinin became excluded from DRMs (Scheiffele et al., 1997). Together with DRM isolation, M $\beta$ CD treatment became a widely used tool to analyze involvement of rafts in cellular processes. This method will be critically discussed in section 2.4.

Another important tool for studying rafts is by clustering raft proteins or lipids by antibodies or toxins. Maxfield and colleagues showed that antibody induced clustering of a GPI-anchored receptor led to relocalization of the receptor to caveolae, a subtype of raft (Mayor et al., 1994). Later the same was shown for sphingomyelin and glycolipids (Fujimoto, 1996). In a similar sort of experiment, simultaneous cross-linking of several membrane proteins led to colocalization of raft proteins and segregation of raft and non-raft proteins (Harder and Simons, 1997). This selective clustering of raft proteins appears to be dependent on cholesterol as determined by MβCD treatment (Scheiffele et al., 1997). Another interesting observation was that clustering of raft proteins can initiate a signaling process that stimulates T-cell activation (Stefanova et al., 1991).

# Studying rafts: microscopy and spectroscopy

Until 2003, 15 years after the postulation of the raft hypothesis, researches had not been able to demonstrate ordered membrane domains in unperturbed living cells (Munro, 2003). In other words, there was a lack of definite proof for the existence of rafts. A breakthrough in the raft field was instigated by the emergence of non-invasive microscopic and spectroscopic methods. Important techniques include: (1) stimulated emission depletion (STED) microscopy (Eggeling et al., 2009), (2) fluorescence correlation spectroscopy (FCS) (Lenne et al., 2006), (3) fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) ) (Rao and Mayor, 2005), (4) single particle tracking (Suzuki et al., 2007). These studies suggest that clusters of GPI-anchored proteins exist with a size of 10-200 nanometers and a sub-second life time.

#### 2.2 Ordered domains in model membranes

Studying lipid interactions in cells is difficult due to the complexity of cellular membranes; they contain hundreds of different lipids which are constantly influenced by cellular processes like, for instance, membrane transport. For this reason researchers started to utilize simple model membrane systems for studying domain behavior of lipids.

## Phase behavior in membranes

Lipids in a bilayer can exist in different phases. Two common phases are the solid-ordered ( $S_o$ ) and liquid-disordered ( $L_d$ ) phase. Besides physical parameters such as temperature, the phase behavior of a bilayer depends on structural features of the lipids. One important feature is the melting temperature ( $T_m$ ) of the lipid. Lipids with long and saturated acyl chains have strong intermolecular van der Waals interactions and therefore a high  $T_m$ . On the other hand, lipids with short *cis*-unsaturated acyl chains are more kinked and have a lower  $T_m$ . In a bilayer, lipids with a high  $T_m$  tend to form a closely packed  $S_o$  phase which is characterized by high acyl chain order and low lateral mobility. On the other hand, low- $T_m$  lipids tend to form a  $L_d$  phase, characterized by low acyl chain order and high lateral mobility. A single membrane can exist in more than one phase. For instance binary mixtures containing one high and one low- $T_m$  lipid can have  $S_o$  domains in an overall  $L_d$  membrane (Shimshick and McConnell, 1973). However, for most researchers this phenomenon did not explain the presence of membrane rafts since the existence of a  $S_o$  phase was considered incompatible with the view of a fluid cellular membrane.

## Cholesterol and the liquid-ordered phase

Before the raft hypothesis was postulated, researchers had shown that the addition of cholesterol to model membranes alters their phase behavior. Cholesterol was found to make the  $L_d$  phase more ordered and the S<sub>o</sub> phase more fluid. As a consequence, cholesterol enabled the formation of a new type of phase which was named liquid-ordered ( $L_o$ ) (Ipsen et al., 1987). The  $L_o$  phase is characterized by high acyl chain order and high translational mobility. Because the cellular plasma membrane is roughly composed of  $\frac{1}{2}$  cholesterol,  $\frac{1}{2}$  high-T<sub>m</sub> lipids (mainly sphingolipids) and  $\frac{1}{2}$  low-T<sub>m</sub> lipids (mainly glycerophopholipids), many model membrane studies are performed with tertiary lipid mixtures of this composition. Using fluorescence quenching methods, such mixtures were shown to contain  $L_o$  ordered domains in an  $L_d$  phase (Ahmed et al., 1997; Silvius et al., 1996). Indeed, addition of detergent to these membranes gave rise to DRMs enriched in cholesterol and high-T<sub>m</sub> lipids (Schroeder et al., 1994). During the second half of the 1990s, many researchers believed that the lipid interactions that form  $L_o$  domains in model membranes may cause

raft formation in cells (Rietveld and Simons, 1998). Today, it appears that the formation of rafts cannot entirely be explained by  $L_0$  phase behavior. For instance, transmembrane proteins that are present in rafts do not partition in  $L_0$  domains of model membranes (Shogomori et al., 2005). Also, it was found that clustered rafts in isolated plasma membranes are not in the  $L_0$  state (Lingwood et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the work in model membranes has convincingly illustrated that without the help of proteins, lipids are capable of forming ordered platforms within in a liquid phase.

## 2.3 Caveolae

Caveolae are often considered as a subtype of raft that are also cholesterol/sphingolipid enriched and resistant to detergent treatment. Different from other membrane rafts, the caveolar structure is highly stable and dependent on proteins of the caveolin family. Caveolae are present in many types of cells, and are especially abundant in adipocytes, endothelial cells and muscle cells. They have been implicated in many different functions including endocytosis of certain lipids and virus particles, transcytosis, signaling platforms, adhesion and migration, and lipid regulation.

#### Structure

Caveolae are small flask shaped invaginations (50-100 nm in diameter) on the plasma membrane that can be visualized by electron microscopy (II, Figure 5A) (Palade, 1953). The main structural component of caveolae is caveolin-1, which is a member of the protein family that also comprises caveolin-2 and caveolin-3. Caveolin-1 is localized to the cytosolic sites of the plasma membrane with a putative hairpin intramembrane domain within the membrane bilayer (Parton and Simons, 2007). The importance of caveolin-1 is illustrated by the findings that caveolin-1 knockout cells are devoid of caveolae (Drab et al., 2001) and that overexpression of caveolin-1 can (but not necessary always does) bring about the formation of caveolae in various cell types (Fra et al., 1995; Lipardi et al., 1998). Caveolin-1 has been shown to oligomerize as caveolae are formed (Monier et al., 1995) and these oligomers have been proposed to make up a filamentous coat which decorates the cytoplasmic surface of caveolae (Fernandez et al., 2002; Rothberg et al., 1992). It has been estimated that the number of caveolin-1 proteins per caveolae is around 150 (Pelkmans and Zerial, 2005). Besides caveolin-1 there are several other proteins that are important for caveolar structure. Caveolin-2 is often co-expressed with caveolin-1 but is not required for caveolar formation (Razani et al., 2002). Instead, caveolin-2 appears to have a modulator role, leading to the formation of more uniform caveolae (Li et al., 1998). Caveolin-3 is specifically found in muscle and appears to be both structurally and functionally similar to caveolin-1 (Tang et al., 1996). Recently, a protein outside the caveolin family was found to be a structural component of caveolae (Hill et al., 2008). This protein, named cavin, was shown to be recruited to caveolae by caveolin-1 and is required for caveola formation and sequestration of mobile caveolin-1 into immobile caveolae.

# Cholesterol and caveolae

As has been shown for membrane rafts, also caveolae depend structurally and functionally on cholesterol. Biochemically isolated caveolae have been shown to be enriched in cholesterol (Ortegren et al., 2004) and caveolin-1 appears to directly bind cholesterol (Murata et al., 1995). This interaction may be mediated by a specific cholesterol binding motif which is also found in other proteins (Li and Papadopoulos, 1998). Furthermore, cholesterol appears to be involved in caveolar biogenesis, since cholesterol stabilizes the formation of caveolin oligomers in vitro (Monier et al., 1996) and is necessary for loss of diffusional mobility of caveolins in the Golgi (Hayer et al., 2010). Also, cholesterol appears to be important for caveolar structure, since the addition of filipin, a cholesterol binding polyene, flattens caveolae (Rothberg et al., 1992). Furthermore, cholesterol depletion by MBCD disrupts the close proximity between caveolin-1 and cavin (Hill et al., 2008). It should be noted that these treatments are harsh and might affect the caveolar structure indirectly. Finally, it is interesting to point out that caveolae also affect cholesterol. For instance, overexpression of caveolin-1 leads to an increase in reverse cholesterol transport (Truong et al., 2010) and adipocytes from caveolin-1 knockout mice contain 10-fold reduced levels of cholesterol (Le Lay et al., 2006).

# 2.4 Studying ordered domains by cholesterol depletion

Removal of cellular cholesterol by cyclodextrins has been one of the most widely used methods for studying whether a process takes place in membrane raft/caveolae. Here, the procedure, side effects and the general cellular response to cholesterol removal will be discussed.

# Cholesterol depletion by methyl-6-cyclodextrin

Cyclodextrins are synthetic cyclic oligosaccharides which have a hydrophilic exterior and a hydrophobic core. These characteristics allow cyclodextrins to solubilize certain hydrophobic compounds. The hydrophobic core of the heptamer methyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (M $\beta$ CD) is especially suitable for solubilizing cholesterol (Ohtani et al., 1989) (Figure 4). When added to cells, M $\beta$ CD efficiently removes cholesterol from the plasma membrane. The most common protocol for cholesterol removal prescribes incubation with 10 mM

MβCD for 30 min at 37 °C. This treatment results in a removal of ~60% of total cellular cholesterol in BHK cells (Keller and Simons, 1998) and ~70% in HeLa cells (Vainio et al., 2006). Although the cholesterol is removed from the plasma membrane, it should be noted that also intracellular compartments will be affected because of continuous transport of cholesterol between cellular organelles (Lange et al., 2004; Rosenbaum et al., 2010).

There are several side effects when using M<sub>β</sub>CD to remove cellular cholesterol. First, M<sub>β</sub>CD also extracts certain phospholipids (Ohvo and Slotte, 1996). For instance, a 30 min M<sub>β</sub>CD treatment of rat cerebellar granule cells resulted in a decrease of sphingomyelin (15%) and glycerophospholipids (17%), besides cholesterol (50%) (Ottico et al., 2003). Second, M<sub>β</sub>CD has been reported to extract peripheral membrane proteins from cells (Ilangumaran and Hoessli, 1998; Ohtani et al., 1989). Most researchers who use M<sub>β</sub>CD to study rafts neglect these side effects and therefore do not include proper control samples in which cholesterol levels are replenished after depletion.



Figure 4. Structure of methyl-**6**-cyclodextrin. R = -OH or -OCH<sub>3</sub>

# Effect of cholesterol depletion on cells

Since cholesterol has many cellular functions apart from forming rafts/caveolae, acute cholesterol removal by M $\beta$ CD also affects these other processes. For instance, cholesterol has been shown to be important for proper membrane permeability and fluidity. Indeed, cholesterol depletion from cells results in increased plasma membrane permeability to small molecules and ions (Grunze and Deuticke, 1974). Furthermore, membrane cholesterol levels have been shown to also affect the functions of non-raft enzymes. It was shown that Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity decreased when the cholesterol content was altered from native levels (Yeagle et al., 1988). Furthermore, cholesterol depletion inhibits the formation of clathrin-coated vesicles (Rodal et al., 1999). Another difficulty in the interpretation of cholesterol depletion arises from the fact that certain raft mediated processes affect other cellular processes that do not take place in rafts. For instance, cholesterol depletion delocalizes

phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) from the plasma membrane (Pike and Miller, 1998). PIP<sub>2</sub> is involved in cytoskeleton/membrane interaction and actin fiber formation (Caroni, 2001) and thereby affects many cellular processes. Indeed, it has been shown that cholesterol removal affects the lateral mobility of membrane proteins by disrupting the interactions between PIP<sub>2</sub> and actin (Kwik et al., 2003). Taken together, loss of a particular function after cholesterol depletion does not necessarily imply that this process occurs in membrane rafts.

# 3. Cholesterol analogs as a tool

Cholesterol analogs can function as valuable tools to study the biology of cholesterol. I have made a distinction between fluorescent and non-fluorescent cholesterol analogs since their use lies in distinct areas.

# 3.1 Fluorescent cholesterol probes

Fluorescent cholesterol analogs can be utilized to analyze the dynamic localization of sterols in living cells. The usefulness of such probes depends on two factors: their fluorescent properties and their functional similarity to cholesterol. The labeling of lipids with a fluorescent group is generally more challenging than the labeling of proteins. Proteins often consist of distinct functional domains. The addition of a fluorescent group outside these functional domains often does not interfere with the protein's activity. On the other hand, most properties of membrane lipids are not mediated by distinct functional domains but instead follow from the physical properties of the entire molecule. Because cholesterol is a small molecule, most minor structural changes will have relatively large effects on the physical properties of cholesterol. In this section the benefits and drawbacks of the most widely used fluorescent cholesterol analogs (Figure 5) will be discussed.



Figure 5. Structures of fluorescent cholesterol analogs. The green areas indicate the added fluorescent groups and the blue areas indicate the conjugated triene moiety. The BODIPY-cholesterol analog shown is also known as BODIPY-cholesterol compound 2 (Li et al., 2006).

# NBD-cholesterol

The addition of a fluorescent 7-nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl (NBD) group to cholesterol gives rise to NBD-sterols (Figure 5). There are several NBD-sterols that differ by the positioning of the NBD group. Most common are 22-NBD-cholesterol and 25-NBDcholesterol. The NBD group has relatively good fluorescent properties; excitation (470 nm) and emission (530 nm) are in the visible region and the quantum yield is good (Chattopadhyay, 1990). 22-NBD-cholesterol has been shown to interact with the sterol binding sites of cholesterol modifying enzymes such as HMGR (Craig et al., 1981) and ACAT. Furthermore, NBD-cholesterol has been used to characterize sterol binding sites of StAR (Petrescu et al., 2001) and SCP-2 (Avdulov et al., 1999). Even though NBD-cholesterol is recognized as cholesterol by many sterol binding enzymes, the biophysical properties of NBD-sterols in lipid bilayers are very different from those of cholesterol. Neither of the NBDsterols partition in cholesterol rich domains (Loura et al., 2001; Mattjus et al., 1995). Moreover, NBD-sterols were shown to orient upside down in model membranes (Scheidt et al., 2003). Also the behavior of NBD-sterols in cells deviates much from that of cholesterol. For example, 22-NBD-cholesterol and 25-NBD-cholesterol both accumulate in mitochondria (Mukherjee et al., 1998). Altogether, because of their aberrant biophysical behavior and subcellular localization, NBD-sterols are unsuitable for studying the cell biology of cholesterol.

## Dehydroergosterol and cholestatrienol

Dehydroergosterol is a naturally fluorescent sterol which is synthesized in certain types of yeast. Structurally, dehydroergosterol closely resembles cholesterol; differing only by three additional double bonds and an additional methyl group (Figure 5). Cholestatrienol, an analog very similar to dehydroergosterol, also contains a fluorescent conjugated triene system but is otherwise identical to cholesterol. Because cholestatrienol is not commercially available, not many researchers use this compound. Therefore, the focus of this section will be on dehydroergosterol. As might be expected from its structural resemblance to cholesterol, dehydroergosterol behaves guite similarly to cholesterol. In model membranes the orientation of dehydroergosterol is correct, with the free hydroxyl group pointing towards the water interphase (Scheidt et al., 2003). Furthermore, dehydroergosterol has affinity for ordered membrane domains (Garvik et al., 2009). However there are small differences between dehydroergosterol and cholesterol regarding certain physical properties. For instance, the sterol induced phospholipid condensation as measured by <sup>2</sup>H NMR order parameters was significantly lower for dehydroergosterol (Scheidt et al., 2003). Nevertheless, dehydroergosterol has been used in many studies to analyze the behavior of cholesterol in vitro. An interesting example is a study that analyzed sterol/protein interaction by measuring FRET between tryptophan residues and dehydroergosterol (de Almeida et al., 2004).

Dehydroergosterol has also been shown to resemble cholesterol *in vivo*. The worm *Caenorhabditis elegans*, which needs sterol uptake in order to survive, can live and reproduce on dehydroergosterol (Matyash et al., 2001). Also mammalian cells are viable when containing dehydroergosterol as the main sterol (Kavecansky et al., 1994). Furthermore, the intracellular dehydroergosterol distribution resembles that of cholesterol as determined by filipin staining and sucrose density fractionation (Hao et al., 2002). Dehydroergosterol has been used in several studies to analyze intracellular cholesterol transport (see 1.5 Intracellular cholesterol transport). However, it should be noted that in cells dehydroergosterol does not behave identically to cholesterol, e.g. its rate of esterification was shown to be 8 fold higher in fibroblasts (Frolov et al., 2000).

A major drawback in the use of dehydroergosterol and cholestatrienol results from their unfavorable spectroscopic properties. Excitation and emission take place at 376 nm and 422 nm, respectively. This low wavelength region is both phototoxic to cells and requires a special microscopic setup, suitable for UV-imaging. Another disadvantage is the poor image quality obtained with these probes. This is caused by the fluorophore's low quantum yield (0.04 in ethanol) and high bleaching rate. Furthermore, the high sensitivity to photobleaching does not allow continuous imaging of the same field. To summarize, dehydroergosterol and cholestatrienol resemble the biophysical properties of cholesterol better than other fluorescent cholesterol analogs. This makes these probes highly valuable

for studying the cell biology of cholesterol. However, the poor fluorescent properties of these probes severely restrict their use.

## **BODIPY-cholesterol**

BODIPY-sterols are chemically synthesized analogs of cholesterol containing a covalently attached boron dipyrromethene difluoride (BODIPY) group. The BODIPY group has excellent fluorescent properties for live cell imaging; its excitation and emission are very similar to that of GFP, its quantum yield is 0.9 (in membrane bilayers) and its sensitivity to photobleaching is very low. As for NBD-sterols, there are different types of BODIPYcholesterol. Here I will focus on the recently developed BODIPY-cholesterol, which has the BODIPY group bound to carbon-24 of the sterol side chain (Li et al., 2006) (Figure 5). BODIPY-cholesterol appears to mimic the behavior of cholesterol in different systems. In model membranes, this probe has been shown to partition in cholesterol rich ordered domains (Li et al., 2006; Shaw et al., 2006). This is a good indication for the biophysical similarity to cholesterol because, except for dehydroergosterol and cholestatrienol, none of the other fluorescent sterol analogs mimic this behavior. In an atomistic simulation study, modeling its behavior in lipid bilayers, BODIPY-cholesterol mimicked the effect of cholesterol on acyl chain ordering (Holtta-Vuori et al., 2008). Also in cells, BODIPYcholesterol resembles cholesterol. It has been shown to partition into DRMs, suggesting its presence in membrane rafts. The subcellular distribution of BODIPY-cholesterol was found to be similar to cholesterol as judged by biochemical fractionation analysis and filipin staining (Holtta-Vuori et al., 2008). Furthermore, BODIPY-cholesterol accumulates in the lysosomes of cells lacking NPC1 in a manner similar to cholesterol (Holtta-Vuori et al., 2008). However, just like the other fluorescent probes, BODIPY-cholesterol does not behave identically to cholesterol. For instance, compared to cholesterol, its esterification is reduced and its secretion enhanced (Holtta-Vuori et al., 2008). Overall, it appears that BODIPYcholesterol is a useful new tool for the analysis of cholesterol. Because this probe has only been commercially available since 2009 there are only few published studies. Still, it is already apparent that BODIPY-cholesterol behaves more similarly to cholesterol compared to NBD-sterols. One reason for this difference is the higher hydrophobicity of the BODIPYgroup, making it more similar to the natural side chain of cholesterol.

## 3.2 Structure/function analysis using cholesterol analogs

Cholesterol analogs can be used as tools for studying the relationship between cholesterol's structure and function. The cellular functions mediated by cholesterol rely on different structural features. For instance, certain cholesterol modifying enzymes recognize only a specific region of cholesterol. On the other hand, the interactions of cholesterol within lipid bilayers depend more on its overall biophysical characteristics. Knowledge regarding the structure/function relationship of cholesterol has been important for the design of fluorescent cholesterol analogs. Furthermore, because certain cholesterol analogs only affect specific cellular functions of cholesterol, these analogs can be useful tools for studying biological properties of cholesterol.

## Types of cholesterol analogs used for structure/function analysis

The term *cholesterol analog* in principle applies to any structural derivative of cholesterol (Ikonen and Jansen, 2008). Here, the different types of analogs that have been used to analyze the structure/function relationship of cholesterol will be discussed. Cholesterol analogs can be divided into natural and synthetic compounds. The most widely used natural analogs are biosynthetic precursors of cholesterol, plant sterols (phytosterols), and ergosterol (the main sterol in yeast) (Figure 6). Compared to other sterol analogs (e.g. oxysterols, sulfonated sterols, steroid hormones, bile acids) these have no additional hydrophilic groups that severely alter the biophysical properties of the sterol. Instead, they differ from cholesterol by additional alkyl groups and/or carbon-carbon double bonds, thereby introducing only minor structural changes. Synthetic cholesterol analogs that have been useful for structure/function analysis are the stereoisomers of cholesterol called 3-epicholesterol and ent-cholesterol (Figure 6). 3-Epicholesterol is an epimer of cholesterol in which the hydroxyl-group is in the  $\alpha$ -position instead of the normal  $\beta$ -position. Entcholesterol is the enantiomer (mirror image) of cholesterol, i.e. the stereochemistry of all chiral centers is reversed. Ent-cholesterol is a particularly useful tool since its physical properties in lipid bilayers are identical to cholesterol (Mannock et al., 2003). On the other hand, ent-cholesterol is not recognized correctly by many cholesterol interacting proteins (Westover and Covey, 2004). These properties make ent-cholesterol a useful tool for distinguishing sterol-lipid and sterol-protein interactions.



Figure 6. Structures of several cholesterol analogs. Structural differences with cholesterol are indicated with green (stereoisomer), red (additional alkyl group) and blue (carbon-carbon bond unsaturation) dots. Ent-cholesterol is the enantiomer of cholesterol.

#### Insights from model membrane studies

Studies on the effects of sterol structure on membrane properties have been carried out since the 60's. Most of these studies utilized the sterols described in the previous paragraph and analyzed their effect on acyl chain order, membrane permeability, membrane thickness, and raft domain formation (Demel and De Kruyff, 1976; McMullen et al., 1996; Miao et al., 2002; Ohvo and Slotte, 1996; Xu and London, 2000; Yeagle et al., 1988). Most studies found that the effect of the sterol modification was highly dependent on experimental conditions such as sterol concentration and the type of matrix lipids used. Therefore, it is difficult to compare data from different studies. However, in general it was found that structural modifications of cholesterol reduced the sterol mediated ordering effect on phospholipid acyl chains. The degree of this reduction depends on the type of modification. One structural feature of cholesterol that was found to be important for mediating its ordering effect is the smoothness of the ring structure. Lanosterol, a precursor of cholesterol, has three additional methyl groups attached to the sterol nucleus, making the sterol more bulky and less streamlined. Lanosterol was found to be poor in promoting order in phospholipid bilayers (Miao et al., 2002). It has been suggested that the additional methyl groups disrupt the van der Waals interactions between the sterol and the acyl chains. Other essential structural features are: the hydroxyl group on carbon-3, a rigid planar ring system, and a flexible hydrocarbon side chain. The degree of unsaturation of the ring system and alkylations and unsaturations in the sterol side chain were found to be less important (Mannock et al., 2010). Finally, it is interesting to point out that sterol structure can also affect membrane curvature. It was found that cholesterol promotes domains with positive curvature (bulging out), whereas other sterols, like lanosterol, facilitate negative curvature (Bacia et al., 2005).

#### Insights from cell studies

The effects of sterol structure have been extensively analyzed in different types of cells. The most popular model systems have been *Mycoplasma capriolum* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. The prokaryote *M. capriolum* is a sterol auxotroph. This microorganism is useful for analyzing the effect of sterol structure since internalized sterols are not metabolically modified. Most of the sterol structure analysis in the yeast *S. cerevisiae* have been performed in the GL7 strain, which is defective in 2,3-oxidosqualene-lanosterol cyclase activity (Gollub et al., 1977). Other *S. cerevisiae* strains with defects in ergosterol biosynthesis enzymes downstream of the production of lanosterol have also been used. These strains are able to synthesize sterols but accumulate specific biosynthetic precursors of ergosterol (Parks et al., 1999). Finally, there are several studies using mutated mammalian cell lines that are auxotrophic for cholesterol (Rujanavech and Silbert, 1986; Xu et al., 2005).

Studies in these different model systems have led to numerous insights regarding the effects of sterol structure on cellular functions. It was observed that sterol modifications led to adaptive changes in the phospholipid composition (Low et al., 1985). This was also found in the mammalian LM cell line (Rujanavech and Silbert, 1986). These results suggest that cells are able to adapt to biophysical membrane changes resulting from foreign sterols by modifying its fatty acid composition (Bloch, 1983). Furthermore, sterol structure was shown to be important for specific processes like endocytosis (Heese-Peck et al., 2002) and yeast cell shape and cell fusion (Aguilar et al., 2010). There are several studies that analyzed the ability of cholesterol analogs to support growth in cells auxotrophic for cholesterol. One study, using mammalian cells, showed that small modifications of the sterol side chain supported cell growth but that more complex modifications in the sterol nucleus or 3-hydroxy group did not (Xu et al., 2005). Overall, the use of cell systems reinforced the structure/function relationship found from artificial membranes studies; in general, sterols more downstream of the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway have a larger order promoting effect. Based on these results, and the fact that in cyanobacteria cholesterol biosynthesis stops at the stage of lanosterol, Konrad Bloch argued that the further metabolism towards cholesterol was evolved to perfect the biological functions of the sterol (Bloch, 1989).
#### 4. Oxysterol binding protein related proteins

#### 4.1 A conserved family of lipid transfer proteins

Oxysterol binding protein related proteins (ORPs) are a family of lipid transfer proteins that are conserved from humans to yeast. Their founding member, oxysterol binding protein (OSBP), was identified in a search for proteins that bind oxysterols (Taylor et al., 1984). DNA sequence analysis revealed that OSBP is a member of a larger family of proteins present in all eukaryotes (Lehto and Olkkonen, 2003). The human genome encodes, in addition to OSBP, 11 ORPs which are named ORP 1-11 (Lehto et al., 2001) (Figure 7). Because of differential splicing several ORP genes encode for a full length (L) and a truncated (S) splice variant. Based on sequence similarity the human ORP family can be divided in 6 subgroups (Lehto et al., 2001). Yeast, which contains 7 ORPs named Osh1-7 (Beh et al., 2001), has been an important model for the functional analysis of ORPs. A comprehensive study, in which all 127 possible permutations of Osh deletion mutants were created, showed that deletion of all Osh genes is lethal but that expression of any individual gene ensures viability (Beh et al., 2001). This implies that the Osh proteins share a common essential function. Although ORPs have been implicated in a wide range of cellular processes including cholesterol homeostasis and transport, this essential function in yeast has not yet been discovered. Nonetheless, recent functional and structural studies have provided some mechanistic insights into the cellular functions of ORPs.

#### Oxysterols

Oxysterols are oxidized derivatives of cholesterol that can be formed either by autooxidation or by an enzymatic reaction. This derivation can be a hydroxyl, keton, epoxy, or carboxyl group. Like cholesterol, oxysterols mainly partition in lipid bilayers but, because of their more hydrophilic nature, move more rapidly between membranes (Yan and Olkkonen, 2008). They are present at concentrations usually around 1000 times lower than cholesterol (Brown and Jessup, 2009). Oxysterols have been shown to be involved in feedback regulation of cholesterol homeostasis by taking part in the SREBP signaling. 25-hydroxycholesterol (25-HC) directly binds Insig, causing Insig to bind SCAP and retain the SREBP complex in the ER (Radhakrishnan et al., 2007). Oxysterols also regulate cholesterol homeostasis by acting as natural ligands of LXR (Janowski et al., 1996). In addition, oxysterols have been shown to effect ORP proteins. For instance, 25-HC triggers OSBP localization to the Golgi (Ridgway et al., 1992) and 22R-HC inhibits the lipid droplet localization of ORP2 (Hynynen et al., 2009). Although it is clear that oxysterols influence ORPs and *vice versa*, the functional relevance of this interaction is not understood.



Figure 7. Human OSBP related proteins. Key structural motifs are indicated. OSBP related domain (ORD), pleckstrin homology (PH) domain and two phenylalanines in an acidic tract (FFAT) motif.

## Functional analysis

After its discovery, OSBP was thought to be involved in 25-HC mediated HMGR downregulation (Dawson et al., 1989). However, more in-depth analysis led to rejection of this theory (Nishimura et al., 2005). Since then, ORPs have been implicated in various cellular processes including vesicular transport, cell signaling, lipid metabolism and nonvesicular sterol transport. For example, Osh4 is a negative regulator of Golgi derived vesicular transport (Fang et al., 1996), OSBP regulates extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) phosphorylation (Wang et al., 2005b) and OSBP is required for cholesterol and 25-HC dependent stimulation of sphingomyelin synthesis (Perry and Ridgway, 2006). In a recent review, Raychaudhuri and Prinz propose that ORPs might mediate at least four types of mechanisms (Raychaudhuri and Prinz, 2010): (1) non-vesicular sterol transport between membranes, (2) creating transient changes in the lipid composition of membranes, (3) acting as lipid sensors, (4) regulating access of certain lipids to other lipid binding proteins. These different mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and even a single ORP protein might employ more than one. Recently, several studies have added weight to the proposed function of ORPs as direct sterol transporters (see 4.3 Role of ORPs in sterol transport).

#### 4.2 ORP protein domains

#### OSBP related domain

Sequence analysis revealed that the ORP family of proteins contains various functional domains. The family is defined by the presence of an OSBP related domain (ORD) which is the part of the protein that has been implicated in sterol binding. The crystal structure of the ORD domain of Osh4 has been solved, showing that a single sterol molecule binds within a hydrophobic tunnel which is covered by a flexible lid (Im et al., 2005). Because measuring dissociation constants requires protein purification, binding affinities have been determined just for a handful of ORPs. So far, these results indicate that different ORPs bind cholesterol and oxysterols with different affinities. For instance, OSBP has a preference for 25-HC (K<sub>d</sub> = 37 nM) over cholesterol (K<sub>d</sub> = 173 nM) (Wang et al., 2008) and ORP2 prefers 22R-HC (K<sub>d</sub> = 14 nM) over 25-HC (K<sub>d</sub> = 3.9  $\mu$ M) (Hynynen et al., 2009; Suchanek et al., 2007). A study using photo-cross-linking with photo-sterols suggest that most human ORPs can bind sterols (Suchanek et al., 2007). Besides sterols, the ORD has been shown to bind different types of phospholipids at opposite surfaces of the domain (Schulz et al., 2009). This enables the ORD to bind two membranes simultaneously.

#### Pleckstrin homology domain

Many ORPs have been shown to contain a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain. This domain occurs in a wide range of proteins and has been shown to bind phosphorylated derivatives of PI. The head group of PI can be phosphorylated on various positions to form in total 7 different subspecies which are enriched in specific cellular compartments. Because PIs are localized at the cytosolic side of biological membranes they can be used as docking sites for proteins containing a PH domain. For instance, OSBP is localized to the Golgi in a PI(4)P dependent manner (Levine and Munro, 2002). For most other ORPs the specific membrane targeting by the PH domain is poorly understood. Partly, this can be explained by the observation that several ORPs need additional factors for PH-mediated membrane targeting (Lehto et al., 2005; Levine and Munro, 2002). Finally, it should be noted that several ORPs lacking a PH domain have been shown to bind to phosphorylated PIs with their ORD (Li et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2005a).

## FFAT motif

In the human ORP family, 11 splice variants have been shown to contain a two phenylalanines in an acidic tract (FFAT) motif. Besides in ORPs, FFAT motifs are present in other proteins, most of which are involved in lipid metabolism (Loewen 2003). This motif has been shown to bind vesicle associated membrane protein (VAMP) association proteins (VAPs) (Loewen et al., 2003). VAPs are conserved transmembrane proteins in the ER. The FFAT motif has been suggested to function as an ER targeting domain (Loewen et al., 2003). This has been shown for the yeast proteins containing a FFAT motif (Loewen et al., 2003). In mammalian cells, a FFAT motif dependency for ER targeting has been shown for ORP3 (Lehto et al., 2005) and CERT (Kawano et al., 2006). However, it should be noted that in mammalian cells not all proteins with a FFAT motif have been localized to the ER. Some studies have shown the importance of the FFAT motif for protein function. The FFAT motif in CERT is important for efficient traffic of ceramide from the ER to the Golgi (Kawano et al., 2006). Furthermore, it has been shown that an intact FFAT motif is important for ORP1L mediated positioning of late endosomes (Vihervaara et al., 2010). However, it is unknown whether the FFAT domain is important for ORP mediated sterol transport. For instance, ORPs lacking a FFAT motif have been shown to be efficient sterol transporters (Raychaudhuri et al., 2006).

#### 4.3 Role of ORPs in sterol transport

Yeast

The most important advances regarding the role of ORPs in sterol transport have come from studies in yeast. The genetic study that revealed a functional redundancy in the yeast ORP family showed that many deletion mutants exhibited specific sterol-related defects (Beh et al., 2001). Another study by the same group showed that removal of all Osh genes gives a 3.5-fold increase in cellular ergosterol and alters the cellular sterol distribution as judged by filipin staining (Beh and Rine, 2004). The first evidence for a direct role of ORPs in sterol transport was that Osh4 contains a hydrophobic pocket capable of binding sterols (Im et al., 2005). Further evidence was provided in a functional study by the group of William Prinz. They found that Osh proteins are required for sterol transport between the plasma membrane and ER (Raychaudhuri et al., 2006). In a later publication, the same group showed that all Osh proteins can transfer sterols between membranes in vitro (Schulz et al., 2009). Based on these structural and functional observations the authors proposed that ORPs are vehicles that are able to shuttle cholesterol between two membranes. More information about the mechanism of ORP mediated sterol transport was provided by showing that Osh4p mediated sterol trafficking is dependent on the ability of Osh4p to simultaneously bind two apposed membranes (Schulz et al., 2009). Furthermore, this study

shows that most of the yeast ORPs are enriched in regions of the ER that are closely associated with the plasma membrane. This interaction was found not to require a FFAT domain or Scs2p, the yeast equivalent of VAP. The authors suggest the localization of ORPs at membrane contact sites could explain how Osh proteins could transfer sterols rapidly enough to contribute to the bulk sterol transfer. However, the authors also argue that these observations do not exclude functional mechanisms other than direct sterol transport.

# Mammals

Not much is known about the role of ORPs in mammalian cholesterol transport. One difficulty in the functional analysis of mammalian ORPs results from the lack of tools to disrupt expression/function of all ORPs simultaneously. Single knockdown experiments would not be very informative if mammalian ORPs are functionally redundant, as Osh proteins in yeast are. Despite this, several studies have implicated human ORPs in sterol traffic. The role of ORP2 in relation to cholesterol homeostasis has been extensively studied by the group of Vesa Olkkonen. They made four key observations: (1) ORP2 overexpression increased transport of newly synthesized cholesterol to extracellular acceptors (Hynynen et al., 2005), (2) ORP2 silencing increased the amount of cholesterol esters (Hynynen et al., 2009), (3) ORP2 was shown to bind cholesterol and several oxysterols (Hynynen et al., 2009), (4) ORP2 localized to lipid droplets, the plasma membrane, and cytosol (Hynynen et al., 2009). Together these observations could be explained by a role for ORP2 in sterol transport from the ER to the plasma membrane.

OSBP and ORP9L have also been implicated in sterol transport. Both proteins transfer cholesterol between membranes *in vitro*, in a PI(4)P dependent manner (Ngo and Ridgway, 2009). These proteins were shown to localize to the Golgi and the ER, which was dependent on a functional PH domain and FFAT motif, respectively (Wyles and Ridgway, 2004). Furthermore, OSBP overexpression results in increased cholesterol biosynthesis and a reduction of cholesterol esterification (Lagace et al., 1997) and ORP9 silencing leads to Golgi fragmentation and reduced filipin staining of late endosomes (Ngo and Ridgway, 2009). Based on these results the authors suggest that both proteins might be involved in cholesterol transport from ER to Golgi. However, it remains to be determined whether the primary function of OSBP and ORP9 is ER to Golgi sterol transport.

## AIMS OF THE STUDY

In this work the aim was to characterize both fluorescent and non-fluorescent cholesterol analogs as tools to study membrane rafts and intracellular cholesterol transport. Furthermore, the aim was to use these new tools along with more conventional ones to address the importance of cholesterol for ordered membrane domains and intracellular cholesterol transport.

The specific aims of this study were:

- 1. To characterize desmosterol as a tool to study ordered membrane domains
- 2. To study the importance of cholesterol for caveolae by substituting cellular cholesterol by desmosterol
- 3. To characterize BODIPY-cholesterol as a tool to analyze cholesterol transport between the plasma membrane, the ER and lipid droplets
- 4. To utilize BODIPY-cholesterol to analyze the importance of ORPs for cholesterol transport between the plasma membrane, the ER, and lipid droplets in mammalian cells

#### METHODS

Details regarding the materials and methods are provided in the original articles (I – III).

#### 1. Model membrane experiments

#### Multilamellar vesicle (MLV) preparation (I)

Lipids from stock solutions were pipetted in a glass tube (Table 1). The lipid mixtures were dried by heating under a soft flow of nitrogen. In order to remove most organic solvent molecules, the mixture was further dried for 1 h in a speed vac. Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was added to the dried lipid film and MLVs were generated by vortexing each sample 4 times 30 s at 55 °C.

Procedure	Molar ratio <sup>1</sup>			DPH <sup>2</sup>	Lipid concentration (µM)
	DPPC	DOPC	12-SLPC		
Detergent resistance	1	1		-	500
DPH quenching					
$F_{12-SLPC}^{DPPC}$	1		1	yes	50
F <sup>DPPC</sup> FDOPC	1	1		yes	50
$F_{12-SLPC}^{DOPC}$		1	1	yes	50
F <sup>DOPC</sup>		1		yes	50
DPH polarization	1	1		yes	50

#### Table 1. Lipid content of multilamellar vesicles

1, MLVs were prepared with and without 15 mol % of cholesterol or desmosterol

2, 1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (DPH) was present at 0.5 mol %

#### Detergent resistance of MLVs (I)

Detergent solubilization was assayed by measuring the loss of light scattering as determined by optical density (OD) at 400 nm as done in (Xu et al., 2001). The  $OD_{400}$  was measured before and after 2 h incubation with 0.5% Triton X-100 at room temperature. The detergent resistance (% OD) was determined by dividing the  $OD_{400}$  after the incubation by the  $OD_{400}$  before addition of the detergent.

#### 1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (DPH) quenching (I)

The procedure was performed essentially as described in (Xu and London, 2000). Temperature dependent DPH quenching was measured by heating the MLVs continuously from 21 to 56 °C at 1 °C per min while stirring the suspension. A single quenching experiment was performed by acquiring temperature dependent quenching curves of four different MLV preparations (Table 1). The 1-palmitoyl-2-(12-doxyl)stearoylphosphatidyl-choline (12-SLPC) dependent quenching of DPH ( $F_{12-SLPC}^{DPPC}$ ) was corrected for intensity changes unrelated to the quencher lipid 12-SLPC (divide by  $F_{DOPC}^{DPPC}$ ). Next, this value was corrected for un-quenching unrelated to domain formation by subtracting  $\frac{F_{12-SLPC}^{DOPC}}{F_{DOPC}^{DOPC}}$ . Altogether,  $\Delta \frac{F}{F_0}$  was calculated as follows.

$$\Delta \frac{F}{F_0} = \frac{F_{12-SLPC}^{DPPC}}{F_{DOPC}^{DPPC}} - \frac{F_{12-SLPC}^{DOPC}}{F_{DOPC}^{DOPC}}$$

The quenching curves,  $\Delta \frac{F}{F_0}$  as a function of temperature, were fitted with sigmoidal Boltzmann equation as in (Wenz and Barrantes, 2003). The  $T_m$  was derived from the halfpoint of the curves and the domain formation coefficient *a* was determined by subtracting the lower from the higher asymptote.

# Polarization (I)

The fluorophore was excited with polarized light. Emission of parallel ( $I_{\parallel}$ ) and perpendicular polarization ( $I_{\perp}$ ) was detected. Polarization was calculated as:  $P = \frac{I_{\parallel} - I_{\perp}}{I_{\parallel} + I_{\perp}}$ 

# 2. Biochemical procedures

#### Lipid extraction (I, II, III)

Lipids were extracted by a modified method of (Bligh and Dyer, 1959). Cells were scraped in 1.6 ml of PBS and transferred to a glass tube. Lipids were dissolved by adding 2 ml chloroform and 4 ml methanol. Aggregated proteins were removed by centrifugation. The solution formed two separate phases after the addition of 2 ml 2% NaCl solution and 2 ml chloroform. The lower organic phase containing the lipids was collected and dried by heating under a soft flow of N<sub>2</sub>.

# Sterol determination (I, II, III)

Total sterols and sterol esters were analyzed by high performance thin layer chromatography (HPTLC) using a running buffer of hexane/diethyl ether/acetic acid (80:20:1

v/v/v). BODIPY-sterols were analyzed with a buffer of petroleum ether/diethyl ether/acetic acid (60:40:1 v/v/v). In order to resolve cholesterol biosynthetic precursors, the sterol fractions purified by thin layer chromatography (TLC) were further separated by silver ion high performance liquid chromatography (Ag<sup>+</sup>-HPLC).

# Replacing cholesterol for desmosterol using M6CD/sterol complexes (I)

Cholesterol was depleted from Huh7 cells by 30 min incubation with 10 mM M $\beta$ CD at 37 °C while shaking. Next, the cells were replenished with either cholesterol or desmosterol by incubating for 1 h with a M $\beta$ CD/sterol complex (8.7:1 mol/mol) at a sterol concentration of 50  $\mu$ g/ml.

# Subcellular membrane fractionation (I, II)

Cells were collected in PBS and the samples were kept at 0-4 °C for the remainder of the procedure. After pelleting, the cells were resuspended in a hypotonic lysis buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors. The cells were lysed by passing them 60 times through a 25-gauge needle. The nuclei were removed by centrifugation and 400  $\mu$ l of the post nuclear supernatant was collected in a SW28Ti ultracentrifuge tube. The supernatant was mixed with 1600  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer containing 2.4 M sucrose. The sample was overlaid with 7 parts of 2 ml of lysis buffer containing 1.8, 1.6, 1.4, 1.2, 1.0, 0.8, and 0.6 M sucrose. After centrifugation at 70,000 x *g* for 24 h, the fractions were collected.

# Detergent resistant membrane isolation (II)

Cells were collected in PBS and the samples were kept at 0-4 °C for the remainder of the procedure. The pelleted cells were resuspended in lysis buffer containing 1% triton X-100. Optiprep<sup>M</sup> was added to give a final concentration of 40% and the mixture was transferred to a SW60Ti ultracentrifuge tube. A step gradient of 35, 30, 25, 20, and 0% Optiprep<sup>M</sup> was pipetted on top of the sample. After centrifugation at 40,000 x *g* for 4 h, the fractions were collected. DRMs were present in the top fraction.

# Immunoisolation of caveolar membranes (II)

Adipocytes were prepared from epididymal fat pads of male Wistar rats. The fat pads were digested in Krebs-Ringer-HEPES buffer containing collagenase at 37 °C for around 1 h. The cells were filtered through a 200- $\mu$ m nylon mesh and washed in Krebs buffer. Cells were incubated for 2 days in the presence of [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesterol, [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol and 20,25-DAC. Subsequent steps were carried out at 0-4 °C. Cells were collected, resuspended in lysis

buffer and broken by 10 strokes with a dounce homogenizer. Nuclei and unlysed cells were removed by centrifugation at 1000 x g and a plasma membrane containing pellet was obtained by centrifugation at 16,000 x g. The pellet was resuspended in 2 ml of 500 mM sodium carbonate (pH 11) and membranes were disrupted by sonication. The homogenate was transferred to a SW40Ti tube and sucrose was added to a final concentration of 45% sucrose. The mixture was overlaid with 4 ml of lysis buffer containing 35% and 5% sucrose and centrifuged for 24 h at 39,000 x g. The caveolar enriched fraction at the 5-35% sucrose interphase was divided and incubated overnight with and without caveolin-1 antibodies. The antibody complexes were precipitated using Dynal beads linked to anti-mouse IgG. The amount of radioactivity that co-precipitated was corrected for the unspecific pulldown in the samples without caveolin-1 antibodies.

# Lipid droplet isolation (III)

Lipid droplets were isolated as described in (Brasaemle and Wolins, 2006). Oleate loaded HeLa cells were collected and kept at 0-4 °C for the remainder of the procedure. The cell pellet was resuspended in a hypotonic lysis buffer containing protease inhibitors. Nuclei were removed by centrifugation for 10 min at 1000 x g. The post nuclear supernatant was transferred to a SW40Ti ultracentrifuge tube and adjusted to 20% sucrose. The samples were overlaid with 5% sucrose and 0% sucrose in lysis buffer. The samples were spun for 2 h at 28,000 x g. The lipid droplet fraction, which was visible at the top of the gradient as a milky white layer, was collected with a tube slicer.

# N,N,N-trimethyl-4-(6-phenyl-1,3,5-hexatrien-1-yl)phenylammonium (TMA-DPH) anisotropy (II)

The plasma membrane fluidity of living cells was analyzed as in (Kuhry et al., 1985). A suspension of trypsinized cells was mixed with the fluorescent probe TMA-DPH, which selectively localizes to plasma membranes. The fluorophore was excited with polarized light. Emission of parallel (I<sub>II</sub>) and perpendicular polarization (I<sub>⊥</sub>) was detected. Anisotropy was calculated as:  $A = \frac{I_{||} - I_{\perp}}{I_{||} + 2I_{||}}$ 

# [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol esterification (III)

This procedure was performed as reported (Huang et al., 2003). The plasma membranes of oleate loaded HeLa cells were labeled with [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol from a bovine serum albumin (BSA) complex for 30 min at 15 °C. Next, the cells were incubated for different times at 37 °C after which the lipids were isolated. [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol and [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol esters were analyzed by TLC and scintillation counting.

### 3. Fluorescence microscopy assays

The following microscopy assays were performed either on fixed or living cells. For fixation, cells were grown on coverslips, incubated with paraformaldehyde and mounted on a glass slide. The live-cell microscopy experiments were performed at 37 °C in  $CO_2$  independent medium, which kept the cells at physiological pH outside a  $CO_2$  rich atmosphere of five to ten percent.

# Quantification of caveolin-1-GFP mobility by TIRF microscopy (II)

The transport of caveolae to and from the plasma membrane was measured as reported (Tagawa et al., 2005). HeLa cells expressing caveolin-1-GFP were analyzed by TIRF microscopy. Mobile caveolae are visible as appearing and disappearing dots in the TIRF plane. Movies (4 frames per min) were made of the caveolar fluorescence in the TIRF plane. The Pearson's correlations of consecutive images were calculated and averaged. Lower correlation indicates more change between images and therefore higher mobility.

# Caveolin-1 composition of caveolae (II)

High resolution TIRF microscopy images were taken of HeLa cells stably overexpressing caveolin-1 GFP. Image quality was improved by deconvolution, using Huygens image restoration software. The intensities of the dots were determined using automated spot detection and fitting their intensity as a function of *x* and *y*, with a normal distribution. The intensity histogram of the dots revealed Gaussian shaped intensity groups representing the intensities of individual caveolae (first group) and caveolar clusters. The first three intensity groups were fitted with a mixture of three univariate Gaussian distributions. The width of the first peak was taken as a measure of variation in the amount of caveolin-1 molecules per caveolae.

# BODIPY-cholesterol labeling of cells (III)

Cells were incubated with a M<sub>B</sub>CD/BODIPY-cholesterol complex for 1 min at 37 °C in serum free medium. It was determined by HPTLC that this procedure labeled the cells with 1 molecule of BODIPY-cholesterol for every 1000 molecules of natural cholesterol. The complex was prepared by adding a 370 mM M<sub>B</sub>CD solution to solid BODIPY-cholesterol to reach a 100:1 molar ratio. The complexes were formed by sonicating the mixture 6 times 2 min on ice. Uncomplexed BODIPY-cholesterol crystals were spun down by centrifugation.

## BODIPY-cholesterol pulse chase experiments (III)

HeLa cells were pre-labeled with either BODIPY-C<sub>12</sub> (lipid droplet marker) or ER-tracker. Next, the cells were labeled with BODIPY-cholesterol followed directly by live-cell imaging using a confocal microscope. Three channel images were taken by sequential scanning using three different laser lines: BODIPY-cholesterol 488 nm, the organelle markers 561 nm, HcRed (marker for transfected cells) 633 nm. The focal plane was aimed ~1  $\mu$ m above the basal plasma membrane. Images were taken continuously for up to 3 h to analyze the kinetics of transfer. In experiments where treatments were compared to controls, 6-9 images were taken at 15-25 min after chase and 6-9 images after 180 min. Colocalization, as expressed by the Pearson's correlation, was calculated between BODIPY-cholesterol and the organelle marker. This value was used as a measure of the relative amount of BODIPY-cholesterol in the organelle.

# Dehydroergosterol pulse chase (III)

Huh7 cells were pre-labeled with the lipid droplet marker BODIPY- $C_{12}$ , and then labeled with a M $\beta$ CD/dehydroergosterol complex (molar ratio 8:1) for 3 min at 37 °C as described (Wustner et al., 2002). The label was chased for 45 min before imaging with a wide field microscope, equipped with filters and a dichroic mirror suitable for dehydroergosterol imaging.

# Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching of BODIPY-cholesterol in lipid droplets (III)

HeLa cells, pre-labeled with the lipid droplet marker BODIPY- $C_{12}$ , were labeled with BODIPYcholesterol, which was equilibrated by chasing for 2 h. The BODIPY fluorescence in a cluster of immobile lipid droplets was bleached with 5 short pulses (1.5 sec in total) of the 488 nm argon laser line at full power. Before and after bleaching, this area was imaged at low intensity illumination with scanning settings that favor fast acquisition: high zoom factor (6), low resolution (256 x 256 pixels) and high scanning speed (1400 Hz).

# Endocytosis of BODIPY-lactosylceramide (II)

The endocytosis of BODIPY-lactosylceramide was analyzed as described (Singh et al., 2003). For this experiment, primary human fibroblasts were used because of their high caveolae content. Cell were labeled with BODIPY-lactosylceramide at 0 °C and imaged with a wide-field microscope to determine labeling efficiency. Next, caveolae were allowed to internalize the label by incubating the cells for 5 min at 37 °C. Most uninternalized label was removed

by washing the cells extensively with PBS containing BSA at 0 °C. The cells were again imaged by fluorescence microscopy. Internalized BODIPY-lactosylceramide was visible as dots. The homogenous intensity of the BODIPY-lactosylceramide that remained on the plasma membrane was removed by image processing using a rolling ball background subtraction.

# Endocytosis of integrins (II)

This procedure was performed as published (Upla et al., 2004). HeLa cells expressing caveolin-1-GFP were incubated with antibodies against  $\alpha$ 2 integrin for 1 h on ice. Cells were subsequently incubated with Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated secondary antibodies resulting in clustering of  $\alpha$ 2 integrin. The clustered integrins were allowed to internalize by incubating the samples for 5 and 15 min at 37 °C. The samples were fixed and analyzed by confocal microscopy. Caveolar internalization of clustered integrins was assessed by determining the Pearson's correlation coefficient between caveolin-GFP and the Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated antibodies.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

- 1. Desmosterol as a tool to study ordered membrane domains
- 1.1 Desmosterol cannot fully replace cholesterol in ordered membrane domains

# Ordered domains in model membranes

Three biophysical experiments were performed in order to compare the ordered membrane domain stabilizing properties of desmosterol with those of cholesterol. Multilamellar vesicles (MLVs) were used, composed of DPPC and DOPC in a 1:1 molar ratio with or without 15 mol % sterol. When high-T<sub>m</sub> DPPC (42 °C) and low-T<sub>m</sub> DOPC (-20 °C) are mixed, DPPC-enriched ordered domains coexist with DOPC-enriched disordered domains. In the following three experiments the effect of sterol addition on ordered domain formation and stabilization was measured.

(1) The detergent resistance of the MLVs was determined by measuring the light scattering of the vesicles before and after addition of Triton X-100. A previous study has shown that the percentage of remaining light scattering roughly approximates the amount of DRMs in the vesicles (Xu and London, 2000). Addition of cholesterol to the MLVs resulted in a fivefold increase of the remaining light scattering (I, Figure 1A), in agreement with a previous study (Xu and London, 2000). Compared to cholesterol, desmosterol was 75% less efficient in promoting detergent insolubility. These results indicate that MLVs that contain desmosterol have a reduced fraction of DRMs.

(2) The potential of both cholesterol and desmosterol to promote membrane ordering was analyzed by measuring the polarization of the fluorescent probe DPH, which was added in trace amounts to the MLVs. The degree of DPH polarization is positively related to the ordering of the lipids within the MLVs. The addition of both cholesterol and desmosterol increased DPH polarization in the MLVs (I, Figure 1B). However, the effect of desmosterol was significantly weaker compared to cholesterol.

(3) A DPH fluorescence quenching assay was used to determine the effect of cholesterol on the formation and stability of ordered domains. The MLVs used for this experiment contained trace amounts of DPH, and DOPC was replaced by 12-SLPC. The phase behavior of 12-SLPC is similar to DOPC, but its additional nitroxide group is capable of quenching DPH fluorescence. At room temperature, these vesicles laterally segregate in a DPPC enriched ordered phase and a 12-SLPC enriched disordered phase. DPH has a similar affinity for both phases. The DPH present in the ordered phase, which is depleted of 12-SLPC, is not quenched. Raising the ambient temperature causes the ordered DPPC domains to melt and mix with the disordered 12-SLPC phase. Consequently, the probability of an interaction between DPH and 12-SLPC increases, resulting in higher quenching (I, Figure 1C). Addition of cholesterol to the membranes increased the degree of domain formation as expressed by *a* 

(I, Figure 1D). The ability of desmosterol to increase unquenching was significantly lower. Next, the  $T_m$  of the ordered domains in MLVs containing cholesterol, desmosterol, or no sterol was determined (I, Figure 1E). Addition of cholesterol increased the melting temperature by 3 °C, indicating higher ordered domain stability. On the contrary, desmosterol did not significantly increase the  $T_m$ .

#### Atomic scale molecular dynamics simulations

To better understand why the biophysical properties of desmosterol in membranes differ from those of cholesterol, atomic scale molecular dynamics simulations were performed. The properties of DPPC bilayers in the fluid phase with and without 20 mol % cholesterol or desmosterol were studied. The sterol-dependent ordering of lipid hydrocarbon chains was assessed by determining the molecular order parameter,  $-S_{CD}$  (I, Figure 6A). Whereas both sterols were found to increase acyl chain order, the effect of desmosterol was 50% lower as compared to cholesterol. Analysis of the orientation of the lipids showed that desmosterol did not straighten the acyl chains as much as cholesterol (I, Figure 6B). Furthermore, desmosterol itself was more tilted in the membrane, as compared to cholesterol (I, Table 2; I, Figure 7). To study the molecular mechanisms responsible for the difference of desmosterol, experiments were focused on the conformation of the sterol tail and its interactions with the acyl chains. The molecular order was lower in the entire tail region of desmosterol (I, Figure 6C). This was associated with a 120° difference in the probabilities of torsion angles of the bond between carbons 17-20 (I, Figure 6D). It thus appears that the double bond in the tail of desmosterol changes the shape and flexibility of the tail region as compared to cholesterol. Consequently, the van der Waals interactions of the desmosterol tail with the hydrocarbon chains of the DPPCs should be different from those of cholesterol. Surprisingly, the van der Waals interactions of the last four atoms of the tail with DPPC acyl chains were found to be stronger for desmosterol. However, at the beginning of the tail the effect was opposite, as the acyl chains packed better around that part of the tail of cholesterol than desmosterol.

## Replacing cholesterol with desmosterol in cellular membranes

In order to investigate the effect of desmosterol on ordered membrane domains in cells, three different protocols were used to exchange cellular cholesterol by desmosterol.

(1) For the first method, Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells were used. These cells naturally accumulate some desmosterol while synthesizing cholesterol. When grown in medium containing lipoprotein depleted serum (LPDS), these cells can accumulate 10% of desmosterol relative to the total unesterified sterol content. This method provides a natural way to study desmosterol in cells.

(2) In the second method, the cellular cholesterol was removed with M $\beta$ CD and was replaced with desmosterol from a M $\beta$ CD complex (I, Figure 4A). By incubating Huh7 hepatoma cells for 30 min with 10 mM M $\beta$ CD at 37 °C, 70% of the cellular free cholesterol was depleted. Immediately thereafter, the cells were replenished with either desmosterol or cholesterol from a M $\beta$ CD complex, restoring the cellular sterol content to the starting level. This method allows for the acute exchange of most cellular cholesterol by desmosterol. It should be noted that the replaced desmosterol is metabolized by the cell; 1 h after the exchange ~10% of the desmosterol was converted to cholesterol.

(3) In the third method, cellular cholesterol was exchanged for desmosterol by pharmacological inhibition of 24-dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR24), the enzyme that converts desmosterol to cholesterol. HeLa cells were cultivated for 1 week in medium containing LPDS with and without 10 nM 20,25-diazacholesterol (20,25-DAC), an inhibitor of DHCR24. This treatment resulted in a cellular desmosterol content of 90% (II, Figure 1B) without changing total sterol levels or leading to detectable accumulation of other sterols (II, Figure 1A). If the cells were grown in normal serum (containing cholesterol), 20,25-DAC gave hardly any accumulation of desmosterol, indicating that under these conditions HeLa cells acquire most of their sterol from the medium.

# Membrane rafts

It was analyzed whether desmosterol perturbs the structure and function of ordered membrane domains in cells. In CHO cells, the detergent solubility of desmosterol and cholesterol in a plasma membrane enriched fraction (membranes with the density of 0.7-0.9 M sucrose) was determined (I, Figure 3A). This fraction was treated with 0.5% Triton X-100, and the low density DRMs were separated from the solubilized membranes on a discontinuous sucrose density gradient as described (Arreaza et al., 1994). The amount of cholesterol and desmosterol was analyzed from the DRM and solubilized membrane fraction by Ag<sup>+</sup>-HPLC. The desmosterol/cholesterol ratio was found to be more than three

times higher in the soluble membranes than in DRMs (I, Figure 3B). This result suggests that the affinity of desmosterol for membrane rafts is lower as compared to cholesterol.

Next, it was analyzed whether raft dependent signaling was effective in Huh7 cells in which cholesterol was replaced by desmosterol using M $\beta$ CD. It has been shown before that in Huh7 cells, insulin treatment triggers insulin receptor association with DRMs and that receptor autophosphorylation is dependent on rafts (Vainio et al., 2002). In cells containing desmosterol, the insulin receptor did not get associated with DRMs and its tyrosine phosphorylation, as determined by immunoblotting, was ~60% decreased (I, Figure 5A,C). It was analyzed whether this result could be explained by decreased plasma membrane localization of insulin receptors. This appeared not to be the case, since total [<sup>125</sup>I]insulin binding was unaltered by the sterol exchange (I, Figure 5B). Therefore, these results suggest that the defective insulin receptor activation is related to the weaker membrane ordering effect of desmosterol.

# 1.2 Desmosterol can replace most cellular functions of cholesterol

The effect of replacing cholesterol by desmosterol on cellular functions unrelated to ordered membrane domains was analyzed. Initially, it was observed that the viability and growth rate of 20,25-DAC treated HeLa cells was not altered, as compared to control cells. This suggests that desmosterol can replace, at least partly, the essential functions of cholesterol in cells. Next, the effects of sterol replacement on more specific functions mediated by cholesterol were analyzed.

# Subcellular sterol distribution

The specific distribution of cholesterol over different cellular membranes is known to be essential for the cellular functions relying on cholesterol. In order to analyze whether the subcellular distribution of desmosterol is similar to that of cholesterol, the fluorescent cholesterol binding antibiotic filipin was utilized. Both the MßCD and the 20,25-DAC mediated sterol exchange did not change the filipin staining pattern (I, Figure 4B; Figure 8). As an alternative method, the subcellular sterol distribution was determined by sucrose density fractionation analysis. As expected, most sterols were found to be present in low density fractions that also contained caveolin-1, a protein enriched in the plasma membrane. Only a small amount of cholesterol was found in high density fractions together with calnexin, an ER marker. No difference was found between the relative density distribution of desmosterol and cholesterol (I, Figure 3A; II, Figure 2B). Together, these results demonstrate that the subcellular distribution of desmosterol is similar to that of cholesterol.



Figure 8. Epifluorescence images of HeLa cells stained with filipin. Shown are control cells (cholesterol) and cells treated with 20,25-DAC (desmosterol). The images were deconvolved with Huygens deconvolution software (SVI). Scale bar:  $10 \mu m$ .

#### The Golgi and the secretory pathway

The structure and function of the Golgi apparatus have been shown to be dependent on cholesterol levels (Grimmer et al., 2005). Therefore, the effects of the sterol exchange on Golgi morphology and albumin secretion were analyzed. MBCD mediated sterol depletion of Huh7 cells perturbed the morphology of the Golgi complex as judged by fluorescein isothiocyanate-lentil lectin staining (I, Figure 4B). Replenishing the cells with either cholesterol or desmosterol restored the Golgi staining pattern.

To determine whether the secretory function of the Golgi was affected by the sterol exchange, albumin secretion was analyzed. Immediately after performing the M $\beta$ CD mediated sterol exchange, the cells were incubated for 1 h in fresh medium. The secreted albumin was analyzed by Western blotting (I, Figure 4C). The results indicated that similar amounts of albumin were secreted from cells containing cholesterol or desmosterol.

#### Phospholipid composition and membrane fluidity

Various studies have shown that sterol structure can modify the cellular phospholipid composition (Low et al., 1985; Rujanavech and Silbert, 1986). In 20,25-DAC treated HeLa cells, the cellular composition of PC, PE, PS and sphingomyelin was analyzed by mass spectroscopy (Figure 9). Desmosterol did not alter the cellular amounts of these lipids nor their acyl chain length and unsaturation.

Plasma membrane fluidity is important for proper functioning of the cell and is known to be dependent on cholesterol. To analyze plasma membrane fluidity, TMA-DPH fluorescence anisotropy (similar to fluorescence polarization) was measured in HeLa cells. When added to cells, the probe TMA-DPH localizes selectively to the plasma membrane (Kuhry et al., 1985). Hela cells containing either desmosterol or cholesterol gave identical anisotropy values

(0.32±0.01 and 0.32±0.01, mean±S.D., n = 3), suggesting that the overall plasma membrane fluidity was not altered. In comparison, inhibition of sterol biosynthesis (by 10 µM lovastatin, 100 µM mevalonate in LPDS for 3 days) resulted in increased membrane fluidity, as indicated by lower anisotropy (0.29±0.01).



Figure 9. Phospholipid composition of 20,25-DAC treated HeLa cells. A) Quantification of the major classes of membrane lipids in HeLa cells grown for 8 days in LPDS or FBS with or without 10 nM 20,25-DAC (mean $\pm$ S.E.; PC, PE, PS, sphingomyelin (SM), n = 3; sterol, n = 5). B) Quantification of phospholipid molecular species in cells grown as in (A). The most abundant species constituting at least 70% of each phospholipid class are shown, the numbering indicates the total number of carbon atoms and unsaturations in the acyl chains (mean $\pm$ S.E.; PC, PE, and PS, n = 3; SM, n = 2).

#### 1.3 Using desmosterol to analyze caveolae

#### Desmosterol has reduced affinity for caveolae

Sterol association with caveolar membranes was determined by labeling cells with [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesterol and [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol followed by immunoisolation of caveolar membranes. For this experiment, primary adipocytes were used because of their high caveolar content (Parton and Simons, 2007). Cells were labeled for 2 days with both [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol and [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesterol in the presence of 10 nM 20,25-DAC to prevent the conversion of [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol. The cellular membranes were disrupted by sonication and subjected to sucrose density gradient fractionation (II, Figure 3A). The fraction enriched in plasma membrane, was used for isolation of caveolar membranes by immunoprecipitation using caveolin-1 antibodies. Both [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol and [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesterol specifically precipitated with caveolin-1 antibodies (II, Figure 3B). However, the amount of co-isolated [<sup>3</sup>H]desmosterol was 35% lower than that of [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesterol. These results indicate lower affinity of desmosterol than cholesterol for caveolar membranes.

#### Caveolar stability

The effect of desmosterol on the stability of caveolae was determined by analyzing the detergent and heat resistance of caveolin-1 oligomers. In HeLa cells, in which cholesterol was replaced by desmosterol by 20,25-DAC treatment, the amount of caveolin-1 in DRMs was decreased by 50% (II, Figure 3C). This effect was reversed when the cells were grown in FBS indicating that 20,25-DAC did not act unrelated to the sterol exchange.

Caveolae are structurally composed of caveolin-1 oligomers (Monier et al., 1995; Rothberg et al., 1992) that can be analyzed as high molecular weight protein complexes by Western blotting using caveolin-1 antibodies. Their stability can be assessed by analyzing the fraction of oligomers remaining after boiling the samples in the presence of sodium dodecylsulfate. It was found that 8±8% (mean±S.D.) of caveolin-1 immunoreactivity remained as heat-resistant oligomers in desmosterol cells as compared to 43±6% in cholesterol cells (II, Figure 3D).

It is known that the detergent resistance and the oligomerization of caveolin-1 are related to its plasma membrane localization. Consequently, these results could be explained by an altered subcellular distribution of caveolin-1. It was analyzed whether the sterol exchange effects the subcellular distribution of caveolin-1 using immunofluorescence microscopy and sucrose density fractionation (II, Figure 2A,B). The sterol exchange did not affect the caveolin-1 distribution. Therefore, it seems likely that the decrease in detergent resistance and the oligomer stability of caveolin-1 results from the lower affinity of desmosterol for caveolae.

#### Caveolar morphology

The morphology of caveolae was analyzed by immunoelectron microscopy using antibodies against caveolin-1. As expected, this antibody detected uncoated invaginations in the plasma membrane (II, Figure 5A). The morphology of uncoated membrane invaginations was determined in primary human fibroblasts. In desmosterol-containing cells, uncoated plasma membrane invaginations with small openings (20–45 nm) were less abundant (II, Figure 5A; II, Table 1). Furthermore, there was an increase in the average width and depth of the invaginations. The most prominent difference in desmosterol cells was an increased variation in all the measured dimensions. This difference was not observed if the cells were allowed to take up cholesterol from the medium, indicating that the drug was not directly responsible for the altered morphology. These results imply that the sterol exchange results in larger invaginations with higher morphological variation.

In a previous study, the caveolin-1 composition of caveolae was analyzed in HeLa cells expressing caveolin-1-GFP (Pelkmans and Zerial, 2005). The cells were imaged by total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy, a technique that allows selective visualization of fluorescence on the plasma membrane. The authors found that fluorescence intensity of the imaged dots was distributed in quantum units of 144 Caveolin-1 molecules; 1 unit structures were identified as individual caveolae and structures composed of multiple units as caveolar clusters. Using the same cell line and procedure, the clustering behavior of caveolae was analyzed in cells in which cholesterol was replaced by desmosterol using 20,25-DAC (II, Figure 4). Caveolae clustered similarly in cholesterol and desmosterol containing cells. However, the range of fluorescence within individual caveolae was found to be ~30% larger in desmosterol cells (II, Figure 4C). This can be explained by a higher variation in the number of caveolin-1-GFP molecules per individual caveola.

# Caveolar endocytosis

Caveolae continuously pinch off and fuse with the plasma membrane. This phenomenon can be analyzed in HeLa cells stably expressing caveolin-1-GFP. As visualized by TIRF microscopy, dots appear and disappear on the plasma membrane (II, Figure 6A). Without any stimulation, the rate of appearance and disappearance of dots was similar to the rate in cells containing desmosterol. The caveolar mobility could clearly be stimulated by the dephosphorylation inhibitor vanadate, which increased tyrosine-14 phosphorylation of caveolin-1. After vanadate stimulation, the caveolar mobility was also similar in desmosterol and cholesterol containing cells.

Next, the effect of desmosterol on the endocytosis of a ligand was analyzed. Previous studies have shown that the fluorescent sphingolipid BODIPY-lactosylceramide is selectively internalized by caveolar endocytosis (Singh et al., 2003). Fibroblasts were labeled with BODIPY-lactocylceramide, which was allowed to internalize for 5 min at 37 °C. Uninternalized label was removed from the plasma membrane by BSA washing and the remaining intensity quantified (II, Figure 6B). Desmosterol cells showed a moderate but significant reduction in BODIPY-lactocylceramide uptake.

In an alternative approach to analyze caveolar endocytosis, the caveolar internalization of crosslinked integrins was determined. This was measured by determining the time dependent colocalization between caveolin-1 and croslinked  $\alpha$ 2-integrin as described (Upla et al., 2004). The sterol exchange resulted in a slight but significant reduction in the colocalization, suggesting a decrease in caveolar endocytosis of integrins (II, Figure 7A). In comparison, no inhibition was detected in the internalization of the fluid-phase tracer dextran or transferrin, a marker of clathrin-mediated endocytosis (II, Figure 6C).

#### Caveolin phosphorylation

Integrin cross-linking is known to induce caveolin-1 phosphorylation at tyrosine-14, which is required for caveolar endocytosis (Nomura and Fujimoto, 1999). Contrary to our expectations, caveolin-1 phosphorylation upon integrin cross-linking was more pronounced in desmosterol cells (II, Figure 7B). The mechanism underlying the increased caveolin-1 phosphorylation in desmosterol cells was addressed using an inducible MDCK cell line overexpressing Src, the kinase that phosphorylates caveolin-1. Both in the basal and Src-induced states, the caveolin-1 tyrosine-14 phosphorylation was found to be more pronounced in desmosterol cells (II, Figure 8). This increase appeared to be selective for caveolin-1 since the overall degree of tyrosine phosphorylation was not significantly altered.

#### 1.4 Discussion

#### Desmosterol cannot fully replace cholesterol in ordered membrane domains

This study provides the first evidence that the potential of desmosterol to support ordered domains in both model membranes and in cells is significantly lower than that of cholesterol. Three model membrane experiments showed that the potential of desmosterol to form and stabilize ordered domains is weaker than that of cholesterol. This result was reinforced by atomic scale simulations that indicated that desmosterol has a lower ordering effect in a DPPC membrane. Furthermore, the simulations showed that the double bond in the hydrocarbon tail of desmosterol gives rise to an additional stress in the tail, thus changing its conformation at the beginning of the tail, as compared with cholesterol. This seemingly minor difference had large implications for various structural properties of the bilayer, in particular membrane order. Several months after the publication of these results, another study confirmed the present observation that desmosterol is weaker than cholesterol in stabilizing ordered domains (Megha et al., 2006).

The present data show that the sterol exchange also affects the structure and function of ordered membrane domains in cells. A relatively low desmosterol content was observed in DRMs suggesting a low affinity of desmosterol for membrane rafts. Furthermore, cholesterol replacement was found to perturb both raft association and phosphorylation of the activated insulin receptor. Since insulin signaling has been shown to be dependent on rafts (Vainio et al., 2002), these results suggest that desmosterol perturbs insulin signaling by destabilizing membrane rafts.

#### Desmosterol can replace most cellular functions of cholesterol

Cells containing desmosterol as the main sterol behave normally with respect to cell growth/viability, subcellular sterol distribution, Golgi integrity, secretory pathway, phospholipid composition, and membrane fluidity. Because all these processes are affected by M $\beta$ CD cholesterol depletion, our results indicate that desmosterol can replace most non-raft functions of cholesterol. This is in agreement with earlier studies: (1) DHCR24 knockout mice that contain desmosterol as the main sterol are viable (Wechsler et al., 2003) and (2) in mutant CHO cells desmosterol supports growth equally well as cholesterol (Xu et al., 2005).

It is important to point out that the present results do not imply that desmosterol can mediate all cellular functions of cholesterol besides those in ordered membrane domains. However, it is clear that alternative techniques used to disrupt ordered membrane domains, including MBCD cholesterol depletion, are far more harmful for cells. Together, the results in this thesis show that exchanging cholesterol for desmosterol provides a gentle and selective procedure for disrupting ordered membrane domains in cells.

# Using desmosterol to analyze caveolae

The importance of cholesterol for the structure and function of caveolae was investigated by exchanging cellular cholesterol by desmosterol. The data demonstrated that the double bond in desmosterol reduced its affinity for isolated caveolae. It is important to note that this result does not inform about the actual caveolar sterol content in cells that contain primarily desmosterol. The sterol exchange reduced the stability of caveolae as determined by detergent resistance of caveolin-1 and heat resistance of caveolin-1 oligomers. Also, the sterol exchange led to aberrations in the caveolar structure; the morphology of caveolae was severely altered and there was a larger variation in the amount of caveolin-1 molecules per caveola. Because caveolin-1 has been shown to be involved in membranes bending (Fra et al., 1995) the larger variation of caveolin-1 might cause the altered morphology. Alternatively, sterols themselves have been implicated in membrane curvature (Bacia et al., 2005), and therefore the double bond in desmosterol or an altered caveolar sterol content might have caused the altered shape of the invaginations.

Analysis of caveolar endocytosis suggested that the sterol exchange led to a moderate defect in the selective uptake of both BODIPY-lactocylceramide and cross-linked integrins. It is unlikely that this decreased uptake resulted from an inability of caveolae to pinch off from the plasma membrane, since both the steady state and the vanadate stimulated caveolar mobility were found to be unaffected by the sterol exchange. The decreased uptake was neither explained by a reduction of caveolin-1 phosphorylation. Instead, the phosphorylation of caveolar-1 was found to be increased in the desmosterol cells, perhaps in order to preserve caveolar endocytosis. Taking all this into account, a likely explanation

for the decrease in caveolar uptake is a reduced affinity of BODIPY-lactocylceramide and cross-linked integrins for caveolae. This would be in line with the previous observation that activated insulin receptors had a reduced affinity for membrane rafts in cells containing desmosterol (Vainio et al., 2006).

# 2. Using BODIPY-cholesterol to study intracellular sterol transport

2.1 Characterizing BODIPY-cholesterol as a tool for studying cholesterol transport

The second part of this study aimed to resolve whether the fluorescent sterol probe BODIPY-cholesterol can be used as a tool to study cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER and lipid droplets. Three transport assays based on live cell microscopy were developed. For all experiments HeLa cells were used that were incubated overnight with 0.35 to 0.5 mM oleate. The oleate load increased the cellular triacylglyceride content from ~5 to ~30  $\mu$ g/mg cellular protein, which facilitated lipid droplet visualization.



Figure 10. BODIPY-cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets. (A) Hela cells were prelabeled with BODIPY- $C_{12}$  to stain lipid droplets. The plasma membrane was pulse labeled with BODIPY-cholesterol (BODIPY-chol). Shown are confocal images at different chase times. Scale bar: 15 µm. (B) Pearson's correlation of BODIPY-cholesterol and BODIPY- $C_{12}$  as a function of time. Combined data from three independent experiments. Gray areas indicate time windows used for quantification in later experiments.

# Transport assay I: BODIPY-cholesterol transport from plasma membrane to lipid droplets

To study sterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets a live cell microscopy pulse chase assay was developed. Lipid droplets were visualized by labeling with the fluorescent fatty acid analog BODIPY-C<sub>12</sub>. This label is preferentially incorporated in di- and triacylglycerides at the time points analyzed (Kasurinen, 1992). Next, the plasma membrane was pulse labeled with trace amounts of BODIPY-cholesterol. The cells were imaged continuously for up to 3 h by confocal microscopy while keeping the temperature at 37 °C. Within the first 10 min after labeling some of the BODIPY-cholesterol started to localize to lipid droplets (Figure 10A). The transfer of BODIPY-cholesterol to lipid droplets proceeded for about 1 h, at which time a steady state appeared to be reached. The kinetics of transport was quantified by determining the time-dependent colocalization between BODIPY-cholesterol and BODIPY-Ch<sub>12</sub>. The colocalization, as expressed by the Pearson's correlation coefficient, was plotted as a function of time (Figure 10B). This curve revealed that BODIPY-cholesterol moved from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets with a halftime (t<sub>1/2</sub>) of ~30 min.

# Transport assay II: BODIPY-cholesterol transport from plasma membrane to ER

An assay identical to "transport assay I" was used except that an ER-tracker was utilized instead of the lipid droplet marker (III, Figure 6A). The plot of the Pearson's correlation between BODIPY-cholesterol and the ER-tracker as a function of time revealed transport  $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$  of ~30 min (III, Figure 6B), which is similar to the kinetics found for plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport of BODIPY-cholesterol.

# Transport assay III: FRAP of BODIPY-cholesterol in lipid droplets

Cells were labeled with BODIPY-cholesterol, which was allowed to equilibrate during a 3 h incubation period. Next, the BODIPY-cholesterol in a cluster of immobile lipid droplets was photobleached (III, Figure 5). The fluorescence recovery within those lipid droplets was measured as a function of time. The  $t_{1/2}$  of recovery was found to be ~1 min.

# Biochemical analysis of [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol and BODIPY-cholesterol transport

Transport of  $[{}^{3}H]$ cholesterol and BODIPY-cholesterol from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets was analyzed with a biochemical pulse chase assay. The plasma membrane was pulse labeled with  $[{}^{3}H]$ cholesterol from a BSA complex or with BODIPY-cholesterol from a M $\beta$ CD complex. Next, the lipid droplets were isolated by sucrose density gradient

fractionation after different chase times. The purified lipid droplet fraction was, as expected, enriched in triacylglycerides and adipocyte differentiation-related protein (ADRP) (Martin and Parton, 2005). Furthermore, the lipid droplet fraction contained no or little plasma membrane and ER contamination, as shown by Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and calnexin Western blotting (III, Figure 1C). The time dependent lipid droplet association of unesterified [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol and BODIPY-cholesterol was determined, indicating transport halftimes of ~45 min and ~30 min, respectively (III, Figure 1D, S2). It is of note that, at steady state, the BODIPY-cholesterol lipid droplet content was ~4 times higher compared to unesterified natural cholesterol.

## Effects of pharmacological treatments on BODIPY-cholesterol transport.

Next, the effects of several pharmacological treatments on BODIPY-cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets were investigated (III, Figure 2). In order to make the assay time-efficient, confocal images were acquired only at two chase times: 15-25 min after labeling, at which time there is a net transport of BODIPY-cholesterol to lipid droplets, and 180 min after labeling, when a steady state is reached (Figure 10B). The transport kinetics of BODIPY-cholesterol was not altered by ATP depletion as judged by unaltered colocalization between the sterol probe and the lipid droplet marker after both 15-25 min and 180 min chase. On the other hand, hydrolyzing the sphingomyelin on the plasma membrane using sphingomyelinase increased the colocalization after 15-25 min chase but not at steady state. This indicates that sphingomyelinase treatment increases BODIPY-cholesterol transport to lipid droplets but has no effect on the total amount of sterol transported. Brefeldin A, on the other hand, did not affect transport at either time point.

#### BODIPY-cholesterol esterification

The degree of BODIPY-cholesterol esterification was analyzed by TLC and compared to that of [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol. After a 3 h chase, 7% of the [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol was esterified (III, Figure 1D) whereas no BODIPY-cholesterol esters could be detected. In order to determine whether BODIPY-cholesterol can get esterified in HeLa cells, the cells were labeled for 24 h in medium containing 1  $\mu$ M BODIPY-cholesterol. This procedure results in 10 times more BODIPY-cholesterol moving into the cells compared to the MBCD labeling protocol that was used in all other experiments. In order to stimulate the formation of cholesteryl esters, the cells were loaded with cholesterol from a MBCD/cholesterol complex (6:1; 2 mM MBCD). Under these conditions, 2.5% of the BODIPY-cholesterol got esterified. This was 20 times lower compared to the fraction of esterified cholesterol in the same cells (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Esterification of BODIPY-cholesterol. HeLa cells were labeled overnight with 1 µM BODIPY-cholesterol (BODIPY-C) in the presence of a M8CD/cholesterol complex (6:1; 2 mM M8CD). Lipids were extracted and analyzed by HPTLC. BODIPY-cholesterol and BODIPY-cholesterol esters (BODIPY-CE) were visualized with a fluorescent plate reader.

# 2.2 ORP dependent transport of cholesterol to the ER and lipid droplets

#### Screening of ORPs in BODIPY-cholesterol transport from plasma membrane to lipid droplets

The BODIPY-cholesterol plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport assay was used to analyze the effect of ORP overexpression on sterol traffic. HeLa cells were transiently transfected with cDNAs of all human ORP splice variants containing an N-terminal Xpress tag. Xpress-ORP protein levels were analyzed by Western blotting showing that all were expressed albeit at varying levels (III, Figure 3B). In order to identify the ORP overexpressing cells by fluorescence microscopy, the ORP constructs were co-overexpressed with a plasmid coding for the fluorescent protein HcRed. As judged by  $\alpha$ -Xpress staining, ~90% of the cells expressing HcRed also expressed the Xpress-ORP (III, Figure S1). Confocal images were taken at 15-25 min after BODIPY-cholesterol labeling of fields in which more than half of the cells were expressing HcRed. Overexpression of several ORPs increased the colocalization between BODIPY-cholesterol and lipid droplets (III, Figure 3C; Figure 12). Out of these, ORP1S and ORP2 gave the largest increase. Because overexpression of ORP1S and ORP2 did not alter the colocalization at steady state (180 min chase) (III, Figure 3C; Figure 12), these results suggest that ORP1S and ORP2 can increase the plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport kinetics of BODIPY-cholesterol. The protein levels of overexpressed ORP1S and ORP2 were roughly similar to those of OSBP, ORP1L, ORP3, ORP5, ORP7 and ORP9S. Therefore, out of these ORPs, ORP1S and ORP2 appear to be most efficient in enhancing BODIPY-cholesterol transport to lipid droplets.



Figure 12. ORP2 overexpression increases BODIPY-cholesterol transport to lipid droplets. HeLa cells coexpressing ORP2 and HcRed were prelabeled with BODIPY- $C_{12}$  and pulse labeled with BODIPY-cholesterol (BODIPY-chol). Shown are confocal images after 15 min and 180 min chase. Scale bar: 15 µm.

## ORP2 mediated transport of natural sterols

It was next clarified whether the ORP2 mediated sterol transport also applies to natural sterols. The effect of ORP2 overexpression on the plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport of dehydroergosterol was analyzed by epifluorescent microscopy. In this experiment, Huh7 cells were used because their large lipid droplets facilitate the visualization of dehydroergosterol in lipid droplets. As was shown for BODIPY-cholesterol, dehydroergosterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets was stimulated by ORP2 overexpression (III, Figure S5).

Next, the effect of ORP2 overexpression on the esterification of plasma membrane derived [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol was analyzed. Because cholesterol is esterified by ACAT in the ER, this assay indirectly measures cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER. ORP2 overexpression significantly increased the fraction of [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol esters after a 30 min chase time (III, Figure 4D). ORP2 overexpression did not affect the ability of ACAT to esterify sterols, as determined by an *in vitro* activity assay. Therefore, it is likely that the higher esterification resulted from increased cholesterol transport to the ER. This result is in agreement with findings from the BODIPY-cholesterol plasma membrane to ER transport assay that showed a similar ORP2 dependency (III, Figure 6C,D). Interestingly, the FRAP of BODIPY-cholesterol in lipid droplets was shown to be unaffected by ORP2 overexpression (III, Figure 5B).

We determined the endogenous levels of ORP1S and ORP2 in HeLa cells by Western blotting using purified recombinant proteins as calibrators. Both proteins were found to be present at around one million copies per cell (our unpublished results). Next, the effect of simultaneous knockdown of ORP1 and ORP2 on BODIPY-cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets was measured. On a side note, because the ORP1S splice variant cannot be selectively silenced, both ORP1L and ORP1S were downregulated. Knockdown resulted in a moderate but significant reduction of sterol transport kinetics (III, Figure 4B). Of note, single knockdown of either ORP1 or ORP2 had no effect on sterol transport (our unpublished observations). In order to analyze whether ORP1 and ORP2 double knockdown effects the transport of natural sterols, the esterification of plasma membrane derived [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol was analyzed. Knockdown decreased the esterification of [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol was analyzed. Knockdown decreased the esterification of transport from the plasma membrane to the ER (III, Figure 4C).

# ORP dependent in vitro sterol transfer

To assess more directly whether ORP1S and ORP2 can function as cholesterol transporters, cholesterol transfer was studied *in vitro*. Recombinant Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) fusion proteins of ORP1S, ORP2, and the MLN64 START domain were produced in *E. coli* and purified using Glutathione-Sepharose. The ability of these proteins to stimulate [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol transfer from large unilamellar vesicles to a 50-fold molar excess of acceptor vesicles was analyzed. ORP1S significantly increased sterol transfer to acceptor vesicles (III, Figure 4E). A similar tendency was found for ORP2. These results suggest that ORP1S and ORP2 function as sterol transporters. However, the transfer activity of both ORPs was substantially lower than that of MLN64 START domain which was used as a positive control.

# Role of conserved domains in sterol transport

Next, the importance of two conserved domains present in ORP2, the ORD and FFAT motif was analyzed for BODIPY-cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets (III, Figure 4F). Overexpression of an ORP2 I249W mutant (ORP2mORD), which is defective in binding sterols, was unable to stimulate BODIPY-cholesterol transport. On the other hand, overexpression of an ORP2 mutant with a defective FFAT-motif (ORP2mFFAT) increased BODIPY-cholesterol transport to lipid droplets to the same extent as wild-type ORP2. Western blot analysis indicated that the lack of transport activity of the ORD mutant could not be explained by reduced expression levels (III, Figure 4G). Therefore, these results

indicate that a functional ORD, capable of cholesterol binding, is necessary for ORP2 mediated sterol transfer activity.

# 2.3 VAP proteins are involved in cholesterol transport by stabilizing ORPs

# VAP knockdown decreases ORP2 levels and sterol transport

The effect of VAP-A and/or VAP-B knockdown on BODIPY-cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets was investigated. Knockdown of either VAP-A or VAP-B alone did not affect this transport (Jansen and Ikonen, unpublished observations), but simultaneous knockdown of both proteins resulted in slower BODIPY-cholesterol trafficking from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets, as suggested by reduced colocalization of BODIPY-cholesterol and lipid droplets at 15-25 min of chase (III, Figure 7A).

To assess whether ORP2 can facilitate sterol transfer in the absence of VAPs, ORP2 was overexpressed in control and VAP-A/B knockdown cells and the delivery of BODIPY-cholesterol from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets was analyzed. ORP2 overexpression increased BODIPY-cholesterol transport kinetics in a similar extent in both control and VAP-A/B knockdown cells (III, Figure 7A). This demonstrates that ORP2 can facilitate sterol transport independently of VAPs.

# VAPs stabilize endogenous ORPs by interacting with their FFAT motif

To investigate whether ORPs are involved in the effect of VAP knockdown on sterol transport, ORP2 levels were analyzed by Western blotting. A significant reduction in the amount of ORP2 was observed in the VAP-A/B silenced cells (III, Figure 7B). Conversely, VAP-A overexpression resulted in increased levels of the endogenous ORP2 protein (III, Figure 7D). By using [<sup>35</sup>S]methionine pulse-chase experiments followed by immunoprecipitation, it was found that ORP2 degrades more rapidly in VAP-A/B silenced cells (III, Figure 7C), suggesting the need of VAPs for ORP2 stability.

To study whether the FFAT motif is important for VAP dependent ORP2 stability, the effect of VAP-A/B knockdown on the level of overexpressed ORP2mFFAT was analyzed (III, Figure 7E). Overexpressed ORP2 wild-type was downregulated whereas the ORP2mFATT was not, indicating the importance of the FFAT domain for ORP stability. Consistently with this, endogenous levels of the FFAT motif containing ORPs, ORP1L and ORP3, were downregulated by VAP-A/B silencing, whereas ORP1S and ORP11 that lack a FFAT motif were not (III, Figure 7F). Still, not all FFAT motif containing ORPs were downregulated by VAP-A/B silencing, as indicated by ORP4 and ORP9.

#### 2.4 Discussion

#### Characterizing BODIPY-cholesterol as a tool for studying cholesterol transport

BODIPY-cholesterol was characterized as a tool for studying cholesterol transport between the plasma membrane, the ER and lipid droplets by comparing the transport kinetics of BODIPY-cholesterol with the kinetics of natural sterols. BODIPY-cholesterol moved from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets with a  $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$  of ~30 min, which is roughly similar to the kinetics observed for unesterified [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol. These results are also in agreement with a previous study that analyzed the transport kinetics of dehydroergosterol for the same route (Wustner et al., 2005). The transport of BODIPY-cholesterol from the plasma membrane to the ER also occurred with a  $t_{1/2}$  of ~30 min, which is very similar to the kinetics found for ER to plasma membrane transport as determined by the time dependent oxidation of newly synthesized cholesterol (Lange et al., 1991). Furthermore, the recovery of BODIPYcholesterol fluorescence in lipid droplets occurred with a  $t_{y_2} \sim 1$  min, as also observed for dehydroergosterol (t<sub>1/2</sub>: ~1.5 min) (Wustner et al., 2005). BODIPY-cholesterol was further characterized by analyzing the effects of pharmacological treatments on BODIPY-cholesterol transport. BODIPY-cholesterol traffic to lipid droplets was unaffected by ATP depletion, as was shown previously for dehydroergosterol (Wustner et al., 2005). Furthermore, the present observations that plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport of BODIPYcholesterol is affected by SMase but insensitive to BFA treatment, share similarities with cholesterol traffic between the plasma membrane and the ER, which is affected by sphingomyelinase (Okwu et al., 1994) but mostly insensitive to brefeldin A (Heino et al., 2000). Together, these results show that BODIPY-cholesterol resembles natural cholesterol regarding transport from the plasma membrane to the ER and lipid droplets.

Considering the observation that an additional double bond in the sterol side chain has pronounced effects on ordered membrane domains, it is remarkable that the addition of the bulky BODIPY-group does not radically change the behavior of the sterol. This can partly be explained by the low concentration of BODIPY-cholesterol within the labeled cells. The presence of trace amounts of BODIPY-cholesterol probably has no major effect on membrane properties. Furthermore, present results show that BODIPY-cholesterol does not mimic all cell biological behavior of natural cholesterol. At steady state the cellular fraction of BODIPY-cholesterol in lipid droplets was around four times higher compared to that of natural cholesterol. This might be explained by the affinity of the BODIPY-cholesterol esterification was found to be significantly lower compared to that of natural cholesterol. In most cell types, lipid droplet sterols are predominantly present in esterified form. Therefore, BODIPY-cholesterol esters. Nevertheless, the study of free sterol transport to lipid droplets is informative since lipid droplets do contain small amounts of unesterified

cholesterol. Notably, in the lipid droplets of human adipocytes, 90% of the cholesterol is present in unesterified form (Schreibman and Dell, 1975).

## ORP dependent transport of cholesterol to the ER and lipid droplets

In the overexpression screen, ORP1S and ORP2 were found to be most efficient in facilitating sterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets. Interestingly, these two ORPs are part of the same subfamily based on sequence similarity. Another structural feature that ORP1S and ORP2 have in common is the absence of a PH domain (Raychaudhuri et al., 2006). This lack is relatively rare in mammalian ORPs since twelve of the sixteen splice variants tested in our screen do contain a PH domain. In yeast studies, it has been shown that out of the three ORPs most effective in mediating sterol transport, two are missing a PH domain. Together, these findings show that a PH domain is not necessary for ORP mediated sterol transport. Furthermore, they suggest that absence of this domain might improve its efficiency in mediating sterol transport. Possibly, interactions between PI containing membranes and the PH domain hinder the sterol transfer activity of ORPs.

To obtain more insight into the transport route(s) of sterols moving from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets, the recovery of BODIPY-cholesterol was analyzed in lipid droplets after photobleaching. The  $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$  of BODIPY-cholesterol FRAP was very rapid, ~1 min, and unaffected by ORP2 overexpression. This implies that the majority of BODIPYcholesterol moving to lipid droplets do not come directly from the plasma membrane, since the  $t_{\nu}$  for plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport is ~30 min. There are several arguments that suggest that most BODIPY-cholesterol moving from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets transfers through the ER (Figure 13): (1) plasma membrane to ER and plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport are stimulated in a similar manner by ORP2 overexpression, (2) the kinetics of sterol transport from plasma membrane to ER (~30 min) + lipid droplet FRAP (~1 min) is similar to the kinetics of plasma membrane to lipid droplet transport (~30 min), (3) The ER has been shown to be in close proximity to both the plasma membrane and lipid droplets, (4) cholesterol esters are synthesized in the ER before deposition in lipid droplets. Although it appears likely that sterols moving to lipid droplets come from the ER, the present results do not exclude transport routes involving other cellular compartments.



Figure 13. Model of cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to lipid droplets based on the results of this study. Cholesterol transport is indicated by the straight arrows. The bended arrow indicates the stabilization of ORP's (blue) by VAP-A/B (green). The rationale behind this model is discussed in the text.

In this study, results from the ORP overexpression screen using BODIPY-cholesterol were validated with assays using dehydroergosterol and [<sup>3</sup>H]cholesterol. These results indicate that the effects of ORPs on sterol transport are similar for the three tested sterols. This implies that the bulky BODIPY group is not hindering binding of BODIPY-cholesterol within the hydrophobic cavity of the ORP proteins. The crystal structure of the yeast ORP Osh4, in complex with cholesterol, indicates that hydroxyl side of cholesterol is buried deep inside the hydrophobic Osh4 tunnel whereas the side chain region is covered by a flexible lid (Im et al., 2005). The same study shows that also 25-HC can be complexed with Osh4. The 25-hydroxyl group of 25-HC was found to bind ordered water molecules close to the flexible lid. The presence of water molecules inside that region of the binding pocket indicates that there is extra space within the part of the tunnel that is expected to harbor the BODIPY-group of BODIPY-cholesterol. This additional space might explain how mammalian ORPs can bind BODIPY-cholesterol and mediate its transfer.

The finding that ORP1S and ORP2 are capable of transferring cholesterol *in vitro* suggests that they might directly transfer cholesterol in cells. It was approximated that ~40,000 cholesterol molecules move every second from the plasma membrane to the ER. This value was calculated with the assumptions that 2% of cellular cholesterol is in the ER (Lange and Steck, 1997), one HeLa cell contains 5 billion cholesterol molecules, the  $t_{1/2}$  of cholesterol transport to the ER is 1800 s and that transport occurs by first-order kinetics: **0.02**•**5**•**109**• $\frac{\text{Ln}(2)}{1800}$  = ~**40,000**. Taking into account that ORP1S and ORP2 are each present at 1 million copies per cell, this means that these ORPs are present at an abundance that would allow them to significantly contribute to the plasma membrane to ER cholesterol transport by acting as sterol carriers. Nevertheless, these results do not allow us to draw conclusions regarding the mechanism by which ORPs facilitate sterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER.

Even though double knockdown of ORP1 and ORP2 reduced sterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER and lipid droplets, the decrease was only moderate. This mild affect could be explained by a functional redundancy within the human ORP family regarding sterol transport. Such an explanation appears likely since the present ORP overexpression screen indicated that other ORPs can also stimulate sterol transport, albeit less efficiently. A functional redundancy in the human ORP family would also be in line with results from yeast, which suggest that all Osh proteins are involved in sterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER (Raychaudhuri et al., 2006). It is also possible that there are ORP independent sterol transport mechanisms between the plasma membrane and the ER. Such mechanisms might be mediated by other LTPs, such as SCP-2 or members of the START family (Puglielli et al., 1995; Soccio et al., 2005).

## VAP proteins are involved in cholesterol transport by stabilizing ORPs

VAPs have been implicated in lipid transport (Kawano et al., 2006; Peretti et al., 2008) and interact with the FFAT domain present in several ORPs. In the present study VAP-A/B double knockdown reduces BODIPY-cholesterol transport from plasma membrane to lipid droplets. VAPs stabilize ORP2 protein levels in a FFAT domain dependent manner and the protein levels of several FFAT domain containing ORPs were downregulated by VAP-A/B silencing. Therefore, it seems likely that the reduction in sterol transport is caused by the effect of VAPs on the stability of FFAT domain containing ORPs. It should be noted that VAP interacting proteins include a number of lipid binding/transport proteins, such as CERT and Nir1-3 (Loewen et al., 2003). Therefore, silencing of VAPs might affect sterol transport by ORP unrelated mechanisms. Yet another cause for the decrease in sterol transport upon VAP-A/B knockdown could be a requirement of VAPs for the sterol transfer activity of ORPs. This would be in line with a study that suggests that VAP dependent targeting to the ER is important for the activity of the FFAT domain containing CERT (Kawano et al., 2006). However, the present results provide evidence that interaction between the ORP FFAT domain and VAPs is not directly involved in the sterol transport function of ORPs: (1) ORP2 overexpression stimulated sterol transport in the absence of VAPs, (2) overexpression of ORP2 with a defective FFAT motif induced sterol transport to a similar extent compared to overexpression of wild-type ORP2, (3) overexpression of ORP1S, which does not contain a FFAT motif, gave the highest increase in sterol transport out of all screened ORPs. Studies by other laboratories also suggest that the FFAT-VAP interaction is not relevant for ORP mediated sterol transport. In yeast, the ORPs that were found to be most important for sterol transfer from the plasma membrane to the ER did not contain a FFAT motif (Raychaudhuri et al., 2006). It has also been shown that ORPs in yeast can use their ORD to target the ER, illustrating that a FFAT motif is not necessary for localization to this organelle (Schulz et al., 2009). However, despite this evidence, it is possible that the ORP-VAP interactions may under physiologic conditions be functionally important for sterol transport; upon overexpression, activity of CERT was shown to be independent of VAPs, whereas at lower expression levels, VAP interaction was shown to be important (Kawano et al., 2006).

# CONCLUSIONS

# Desmosterol as a tool to study ordered membrane domains

- 1. Desmosterol cannot functionally replace cholesterol in ordered membrane domains
- 2. Exchanging cellular cholesterol for desmosterol provides a selective tool for perturbing ordered membrane domains
- 3. Cholesterol is important for the stability and structural homogeneity of caveolae

# Using BODIPY-cholesterol to study intracellular cholesterol transport

- 1. BODIPY-cholesterol behaves similarly to natural cholesterol regarding transport between the plasma membrane, the ER and lipid droplets
- 2. ORP1S and ORP2 facilitate cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER
- 3. ORP1S and ORP2 can transfer cholesterol in vitro
- 4. VAP proteins are involved in cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER by stabilizing ORPs
## PERSPECTIVES

In this work, cholesterol analogs were used to analyze cell biological functions of cholesterol. Sterol substitution has in the past been used to analyze the role of cholesterol for biological processes including endocytosis (Heese-Peck et al., 2002), cell growth (Rujanavech and Silbert, 1986), lipid adaptation (Low et al., 1985) and receptor binding affinity (Klein et al., 1995). In the present study, this procedure was used for the first time to analyze the importance of cholesterol for ordered membrane domains in cells. The most common procedure to disrupt ordered membranes is by cholesterol removal or sequestration. These techniques lack selectivity as they affect general membrane properties outside ordered domains. Exchanging cholesterol for desmosterol was found to perturb ordered membrane domains without significantly altering other membrane functions as indicated by unchanged cell growth/viability, subcellular sterol distribution, Golgi integrity, secretory pathway, phospholipid composition and membrane fluidity. Furthermore, the sterol substitution perturbed caveolae without totally abolishing them. This can be an advantage since it allows the analysis of the role of cholesterol for caveolar structure. On the other hand, the lack of total disruption can also be a drawback, since the effect of the sterol substitution might be small or even absent. For instance, even though the sterol substitution altered the caveolar structure, the endocytic function of caveolae was only moderately affected. For this reason it would be interesting to screen the effects of other cholesterol precursors on ordered membrane domains in cells. It is likely that inhibition of an enzyme more upstream of cholesterol biosynthesis would have more pronounced effects on ordered membrane domains in cells. However, cholesterol precursors more upstream are also more likely to affect cellular functions unrelated to ordered membrane domains. In the end, it would be probably best to use a combination of sterol manipulations, ranging in severity, to analyze ordered membrane domains in cells in a prudent manner.

Cholesterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER and lipid droplets is an important mechanism by which cells regulate their membrane cholesterol content. By comparing transport kinetics and the effect of drug treatments, BODIPY-cholesterol resembles cholesterol regarding its transport from the plasma membrane to the ER and lipid droplets. By using BODIPY-cholesterol, this study uncovered a role for ORPs and VAPs in the transport of sterols from the plasma membrane to the ER in mammalian cells. Even though our results are in line with a sterol transport function of ORPs, they do not exclude other mechanisms of transfer. In order to address this question, yeast would be a better model since it allows for multiple knockouts. One could screen whether overexpression of mammalian proteins, capable of *in vitro* sterol transfer (e.g. the MLN64 START domain), can restore viability in the yeast strain lacking all Osh proteins. In case a sterol transporter could substitute for ORPs in yeast this would strongly suggest that ORPs function as sterol transporters in cells. Another unresolved issue is the importance of ORP mediated sterol transport from the plasma membrane to the ER in mammalian cells. Even though ORP2 were efficient in mediating sterol transport upon overexpression, their knockdown

gave only a moderate reduction in sterol transfer. This issue could be addressed by disrupting the function all mammalian ORPs simultaneously. The development of pharmacological ORP inhibitors would be helpful for this purpose.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was financially supported by personal grants from the following organizations: Alfred Kordelin Foundation, Instrumentarium Foundation, Wihuri Foundation, Maud Kuistila Foundation, Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation and Centre for International Mobility (CIMO)

I would also like to take this opportunity to express gratitude to all the people who have helped me with this thesis:

My supervisor, Professor Elina Ikonen, for being a true mentor; her support greatly exceeded the tasks of a PhD thesis supervisor

Docent Pentti Somerharju, for many things but especially his valuable scientific advice and support

Docent Vesa Olkkonen, for an excellent collaboration

Docent Matti Jauhiainen, for his advice as a member of my thesis committee and especially for his valuable suggestions for improving my thesis

My first mentor Joost Holthuis, for advice and great conversations

Professor Gerrit van Meer, for introducing me to the Finnish scientific community

Professor Teymuras Kurzchalia, for reviewing this thesis

Professor Pekka Lappalainen, for his advice as a member of my thesis committee

Docent Nils Bäck, for his support with grant applications and faculty "formalities"

Professor Ilpo Vattulainen, Tomasz Róg and Mikko Karttunen for two great collaborations

Harri Pölönen and Professor Ulla Ruotsalainen for two very enjoyable and rewarding collaborations

Eija Jokitalo and Laura Rasilainen for providing important electron microscopical data

The executives within the Institute of Biomedicine, Professor Ismo Virtanen (deceased), Professor Esa Korpi and Professor Pertti Panula for their kind support

Mika Hukkanen and Mikko Liljeström for their valuable guidance with microscopy image acquisition and analysis

Outi Rauanheimo and Judit Hytönen, for all their secretarial help

Anna Uro and Pipsa Kaipainen, for excellent technical support

My colleagues, Riikka-Liisa Uronen, Maarit Hölttä-Vuori, Aino-Liisa Mutka, Kristiina Kanerva, Wei Wang, Veijo Salo, Jaakko Ilola, Diyu Wang, Saara Vainio, for all their help and many fun moments; special thanks to my lunch-friends Tomas Blom and Matts Linder, to Yuki Ohsaki, Vilja Pietianen and Mirkka Koivusalo for great collaborations, and to Boris Vasilev for his help with proofreading this thesis

My friends on the 5<sup>th</sup> floor C-wing, especially Joni and Alessandro

My closest friends back home, Nick, Paul, Vincent and Jos

My close family, Sabine and my Grandmother Jopie, for coming to support me at my thesis defense, and my Grandmother Agnes, for having me in her thoughts

My Father, Mother and Brother for their endless support and encouragement

My girl, Jana, for all her love

Helsinki, January 2011

Maurice Jansen

## LITERATURE

- Acton, S., A. Rigotti, K.T. Landschulz, S. Xu, H.H. Hobbs, and M. Krieger. 1996. Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science*. 271:518-20.
- Aguilar, P.S., M.G. Heiman, T.C. Walther, A. Engel, D. Schwudke, N. Gushwa, T. Kurzchalia, and P. Walter. 2010. Structure of sterol aliphatic chains affects yeast cell shape and cell fusion during mating. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 107:4170-5.
- Ahmed, S.N., D.A. Brown, and E. London. 1997. On the origin of sphingolipid/cholesterol-rich detergent-insoluble cell membranes: physiological concentrations of cholesterol and sphingolipid induce formation of a detergent-insoluble, liquid-ordered lipid phase in model membranes. *Biochemistry*. 36:10944-53.
- Alpy, F., and C. Tomasetto. 2005. Give lipids a START: the StAR-related lipid transfer (START) domain in mammals. J Cell Sci. 118:2791-801.
- Arreaza, G., K.A. Melkonian, M. LaFevre-Bernt, and D.A. Brown. 1994. Triton X-100-resistant membrane complexes from cultured kidney epithelial cells contain the Src family protein tyrosine kinase p62yes. *J Biol Chem.* 269:19123-7.
- Avdulov, N.A., S.V. Chochina, U. Igbavboa, C.S. Warden, F. Schroeder, and W.G. Wood. 1999. Lipid binding to sterol carrier protein-2 is inhibited by ethanol. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1437:37-45.
- Bacia, K., P. Schwille, and T. Kurzchalia. 2005. Sterol structure determines the separation of phases and the curvature of the liquid-ordered phase in model membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102:3272-7.
- Baum, C.L., E.J. Reschly, A.K. Gayen, M.E. Groh, and K. Schadick. 1997. Sterol carrier protein-2 overexpression enhances sterol cycling and inhibits cholesterol ester synthesis and high density lipoprotein cholesterol secretion. *J Biol Chem.* 272:6490-8.
- Baumann, N.A., D.P. Sullivan, H. Ohvo-Rekila, C. Simonot, A. Pottekat, Z. Klaassen, C.T. Beh, and A.K. Menon. 2005. Transport of newly synthesized sterol to the sterol-enriched plasma membrane occurs via nonvesicular equilibration. *Biochemistry*. 44:5816-26.
- Beh, C.T., L. Cool, J. Phillips, and J. Rine. 2001. Overlapping functions of the yeast oxysterol-binding protein homologues. *Genetics*. 157:1117-40.
- Beh, C.T., and J. Rine. 2004. A role for yeast oxysterol-binding protein homologs in endocytosis and in the maintenance of intracellular sterol-lipid distribution. *J Cell Sci.* 117:2983-96.
- Bligh, E.G., and W.J. Dyer. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can J Biochem Physiol. 37:911-7.
- Bloch, K. 1965. The biological synthesis of cholesterol. *Science*. 150:19-28.
- Bloch, K. 1989. Sterol structure and function. Steroids. 53:261-70.
- Bloch, K.E. 1983. Sterol structure and membrane function. CRC Crit Rev Biochem. 14:47-92.
- Brasaemle, D.L., and N.E. Wolins. 2006. Isolation of lipid droplets from cells by density gradient centrifugation. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* Chapter 3:Unit 3 15.
- Brown, A.J., and W. Jessup. 2009. Oxysterols: Sources, cellular storage and metabolism, and new insights into their roles in cholesterol homeostasis. *Mol Aspects Med.* 30:111-22.
- Brown, D.A., and J.K. Rose. 1992. Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. *Cell*. 68:533-44.
- Brown, M.S., and J.L. Goldstein. 1986. A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science. 232:34-47.
- Brown, M.S., and J.L. Goldstein. 1997. The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. *Cell.* 89:331-40.
- Brugger, B., R. Sandhoff, S. Wegehingel, K. Gorgas, J. Malsam, J.B. Helms, W.D. Lehmann, W. Nickel, and F.T. Wieland. 2000. Evidence for segregation of sphingomyelin and cholesterol during formation of COPI-coated vesicles. *J Cell Biol.* 151:507-18.
- Caroni, P. 2001. New EMBO members' review: actin cytoskeleton regulation through modulation of PI(4,5)P(2) rafts. Embo J. 20:4332-6.
- Chalfie, M., Y. Tu, G. Euskirchen, W.W. Ward, and D.C. Prasher. 1994. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. *Science*. 263:802-5.
- Charman, M., B.E. Kennedy, N. Osborne, and B. Karten. 2010. MLN64 mediates egress of cholesterol from endosomes to mitochondria in the absence of functional Niemann-Pick Type C1 protein. *J Lipid Res.* 51:1023-34.
- Chattopadhyay, A. 1990. Chemistry and biology of N-(7-nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl)-labeled lipids: fluorescent probes of biological and model membranes. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 53:1-15.
- Chong, P.L., D. Tang, and I.P. Sugar. 1994. Exploration of physical principles underlying lipid regular distribution: effects of pressure, temperature, and radius of curvature on E/M dips in pyrene-labeled PC/DMPC binary mixtures. *Biophys J*. 66:2029-38.
- Corvera, E., O.G. Mouritsen, M.A. Singer, and M.J. Zuckermann. 1992. The permeability and the effect of acyl-chain length for phospholipid bilayers containing cholesterol: theory and experiment. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1107:261-70.
- Coxey, R.A., P.G. Pentchev, G. Campbell, and E.J. Blanchette-Mackie. 1993. Differential accumulation of cholesterol in Golgi compartments of normal and Niemann-Pick type C fibroblasts incubated with LDL: a cytochemical freeze-fracture study. J Lipid Res. 34:1165-76.
- Craig, I.F., D.P. Via, W.W. Mantulin, H.J. Pownall, A.M. Gotto, Jr., and L.C. Smith. 1981. Low density lipoproteins reconstituted with steroids containing the nitrobenzoxadiazole fluorophore. *J Lipid Res.* 22:687-96.
- Dawson, P.A., D.R. Van der Westhuyzen, J.L. Goldstein, and M.S. Brown. 1989. Purification of oxysterol binding protein from hamster liver cytosol. *J Biol Chem.* 264:9046-52.
- de Almeida, R.F., L.M. Loura, M. Prieto, A. Watts, A. Fedorov, and F.J. Barrantes. 2004. Cholesterol modulates the organization of the gammaM4 transmembrane domain of the muscle nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Biophys J.* 86:2261-72.
- DeGrella, R.F., and R.D. Simoni. 1982. Intracellular transport of cholesterol to the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem. 257:14256-62.
- Demel, R.A., and B. De Kruyff. 1976. The function of sterols in membranes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 457:109-32.
- Drab, M., P. Verkade, M. Elger, M. Kasper, M. Lohn, B. Lauterbach, J. Menne, C. Lindschau, F. Mende, F.C. Luft, A. Schedl, H. Haller, and T.V. Kurzchalia. 2001. Loss of caveolae, vascular dysfunction, and pulmonary defects in caveolin-1 gene-disrupted mice. *Science*. 293:2449-52.
- Eggeling, C., C. Ringemann, R. Medda, G. Schwarzmann, K. Sandhoff, S. Polyakova, V.N. Belov, B. Hein, C. von Middendorff, A. Schonle, and S.W. Hell. 2009. Direct observation of the nanoscale dynamics of membrane lipids in a living cell. *Nature*. 457:1159-62.
- Fang, M., B.G. Kearns, A. Gedvilaite, S. Kagiwada, M. Kearns, M.K. Fung, and V.A. Bankaitis. 1996. Kes1p shares homology with human oxysterol binding protein and participates in a novel regulatory pathway for yeast Golgi-derived transport vesicle biogenesis. *Embo J.* 15:6447-59.

Fernandez, I., Y. Ying, J. Albanesi, and R.G. Anderson. 2002. Mechanism of caveolin filament assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99:11193-8.

- Fra, A.M., E. Williamson, K. Simons, and R.G. Parton. 1995. De novo formation of caveolae in lymphocytes by expression of VIP21-caveolin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92:8655-9.
- Frolov, A., A. Petrescu, B.P. Atshaves, P.T. So, E. Gratton, G. Serrero, and F. Schroeder. 2000. High density lipoprotein-mediated cholesterol uptake and targeting to lipid droplets in intact L-cell fibroblasts. A single- and multiphoton fluorescence approach. *J Biol Chem.* 275:12769-80.
- Fujimoto, T. 1996. GPI-anchored proteins, glycosphingolipids, and sphingomyelin are sequestered to caveolae only after crosslinking. J Histochem Cytochem. 44:929-41.
- Garvik, O., P. Benediktson, A.C. Simonsen, J.H. Ipsen, and D. Wustner. 2009. The fluorescent cholesterol analog dehydroergosterol induces liquid-ordered domains in model membranes. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 159:114-8.
- Gaylor, J.L. 2002. Membrane-bound enzymes of cholesterol synthesis from lanosterol. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 292:1139-46.
- Gollub, E.G., K.P. Liu, J. Dayan, M. Adlersberg, and D.B. Sprinson. 1977. Yeast mutants deficient in heme biosynthesis and a heme mutant additionally blocked in cyclization of 2,3-oxidosqualene. *J Biol Chem.* 252:2846-54.
- Graf, G.A., L. Yu, W.P. Li, R. Gerard, P.L. Tuma, J.C. Cohen, and H.H. Hobbs. 2003. ABCG5 and ABCG8 are obligate heterodimers for protein trafficking and biliary cholesterol excretion. *J Biol Chem.* 278:48275-82.
- Grimmer, S., M. Ying, S. Walchli, B. van Deurs, and K. Sandvig. 2005. Golgi vesiculation induced by cholesterol occurs by a dynamin- and cPLA2-dependent mechanism. *Traffic.* 6:144-56.
- Grunze, M., and B. Deuticke. 1974. Changes of membrane permeability due to extensive cholesterol depletion in mammalian erythrocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 356:125-30.
- Hanada, K., M. Nishijima, Y. Akamatsu, and R.E. Pagano. 1995. Both sphingolipids and cholesterol participate in the detergent insolubility of alkaline phosphatase, a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored protein, in mammalian membranes. *J Biol Chem*. 270:6254-60.
- Hao, M., S.X. Lin, O.J. Karylowski, D. Wustner, T.E. McGraw, and F.R. Maxfield. 2002. Vesicular and non-vesicular sterol transport in living cells. The endocytic recycling compartment is a major sterol storage organelle. *J Biol Chem.* 277:609-17.
- Harder, T., and K. Simons. 1997. Caveolae, DIGs, and the dynamics of sphingolipid-cholesterol microdomains. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 9:534-42.
- Hayer, A., M. Stoeber, C. Bissig, and A. Helenius. 2010. Biogenesis of caveolae: stepwise assembly of large caveolin and cavin complexes. *Traffic.* 11:361-82.
- Heese-Peck, A., H. Pichler, B. Zanolari, R. Watanabe, G. Daum, and H. Riezman. 2002. Multiple functions of sterols in yeast endocytosis. *Mol Biol Cell*. 13:2664-80.
- Heino, S., S. Lusa, P. Somerharju, C. Ehnholm, V.M. Olkkonen, and E. Ikonen. 2000. Dissecting the role of the golgi complex and lipid rafts in biosynthetic transport of cholesterol to the cell surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 97:8375-80.
- Hill, M.M., M. Bastiani, R. Luetterforst, M. Kirkham, A. Kirkham, S.J. Nixon, P. Walser, D. Abankwa, V.M. Oorschot, S. Martin, J.F. Hancock, and R.G. Parton. 2008. PTRF-Cavin, a conserved cytoplasmic protein required for caveola formation and function. *Cell*. 132:113-24.
- Holtta-Vuori, M., R.L. Uronen, J. Repakova, E. Salonen, I. Vattulainen, P. Panula, Z. Li, R. Bittman, and E. Ikonen. 2008. BODIPY-cholesterol: a new tool to visualize sterol trafficking in living cells and organisms. *Traffic*. 9:1839-49.
- Huang, J., and G.W. Feigenson. 1999. A microscopic interaction model of maximum solubility of cholesterol in lipid bilayers. *Biophys J.* 76:2142-57.
- Huang, Z.H., D. Gu, Y. Lange, and T. Mazzone. 2003. Expression of scavenger receptor BI facilitates sterol movement between the plasma membrane and the endoplasmic reticulum in macrophages. *Biochemistry*. 42:3949-55.
- Hynynen, R., S. Laitinen, R. Kakela, K. Tanhuanpaa, S. Lusa, C. Ehnholm, P. Somerharju, E. Ikonen, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2005. Overexpression of OSBP-related protein 2 (ORP2) induces changes in cellular cholesterol metabolism and enhances endocytosis. *Biochem J.* 390:273-83.
- Hynynen, R., M. Suchanek, J. Spandl, N. Back, C. Thiele, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2009. OSBP-related protein 2 is a sterol receptor on lipid droplets that regulates the metabolism of neutral lipids. *J Lipid Res.* 50:1305-15.
- Ikonen, E., and M. Jansen. 2008. Cellular sterol trafficking and metabolism: spotlight on structure. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 20:371-7.
- Ilangumaran, S., and D.C. Hoessli. 1998. Effects of cholesterol depletion by cyclodextrin on the sphingolipid microdomains of the plasma membrane. *Biochem J.* 335:433-40.
- Im, Y.J., S. Raychaudhuri, W.A. Prinz, and J.H. Hurley. 2005. Structural mechanism for sterol sensing and transport by OSBP-related proteins. *Nature*. 437:154-8.
- Ipsen, J.H., G. Karlstrom, O.G. Mouritsen, H. Wennerstrom, and M.J. Zuckermann. 1987. Phase equilibria in the phosphatidylcholinecholesterol system. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 905:162-72.
- Janowski, B.A., P.J. Willy, T.R. Devi, J.R. Falck, and D.J. Mangelsdorf. 1996. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR alpha. *Nature*. 383:728-31.
- Karnovsky, M.J., A.M. Kleinfeld, R.L. Hoover, and R.D. Klausner. 1982. The concept of lipid domains in membranes. J Cell Biol. 94:1-6.
- Kasurinen, J. 1992. A novel fluorescent fatty acid, 5-methyl-BDY-3-dodecanoic acid, is a potential probe in lipid transport studies by incorporating selectively to lipid classes of BHK cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 187:1594-601.
- Kawano, M., K. Kumagai, M. Nishijima, and K. Hanada. 2006. Efficient trafficking of ceramide from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus requires a VAMP-associated protein-interacting FFAT motif of CERT. J Biol Chem. 281:30279-88.
- Kavecansky, J., C.H. Joiner, and F. Schroeder. 1994. Erythrocyte membrane lateral sterol domains: a dehydroergosterol fluorescence polarization study. *Biochemistry*. 33:2880-90.
- Keller, P., and K. Simons. 1998. Cholesterol is required for surface transport of influenza virus hemagglutinin. J Cell Biol. 140:1357-67.
- Klein, U., G. Gimpl, and F. Fahrenholz. 1995. Alteration of the myometrial plasma membrane cholesterol content with beta-cyclodextrin modulates the binding affinity of the oxytocin receptor. *Biochemistry*. 34:13784-93.
- Kuhry, J.G., G. Duportail, C. Bronner, and G. Laustriat. 1985. Plasma membrane fluidity measurements on whole living cells by fluorescence anisotropy of trimethylammoniumdiphenylhexatriene. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 845:60-7.
- Kwik, J., S. Boyle, D. Fooksman, L. Margolis, M.P. Sheetz, and M. Edidin. 2003. Membrane cholesterol, lateral mobility, and the phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate-dependent organization of cell actin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100:13964-9.
- Kwon, H.J., L. Abi-Mosleh, M.L. Wang, J. Deisenhofer, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, and R.E. Infante. 2009. Structure of N-terminal domain of NPC1 reveals distinct subdomains for binding and transfer of cholesterol. *Cell*. 137:1213-24.

- Lagace, T.A., D.M. Byers, H.W. Cook, and N.D. Ridgway. 1997. Altered regulation of cholesterol and cholesteryl ester synthesis in Chinesehamster ovary cells overexpressing the oxysterol-binding protein is dependent on the pleckstrin homology domain. *Biochem J.* 326:205-13.
- Lange, Y., F. Echevarria, and T.L. Steck. 1991. Movement of zymosterol, a precursor of cholesterol, among three membranes in human fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* 266:21439-43.
- Lange, Y., and T.L. Steck. 1997. Quantitation of the pool of cholesterol associated with acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase in human fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* 272:13103-8.
- Lange, Y., and T.L. Steck. 2008. Cholesterol homeostasis and the escape tendency (activity) of plasma membrane cholesterol. *Prog Lipid Res.* 47:319-32.
- Lange, Y., F. Strebel, and T.L. Steck. 1993. Role of the plasma membrane in cholesterol esterification in rat hepatoma cells. *J Biol Chem.* 268:13838-43.
- Lange, Y., J. Ye, and T.L. Steck. 2004. How cholesterol homeostasis is regulated by plasma membrane cholesterol in excess of phospholipids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 101:11664-7.
- Le Lay, S., E. Hajduch, M.R. Lindsay, X. Le Liepvre, C. Thiele, P. Ferre, R.G. Parton, T. Kurzchalia, K. Simons, and I. Dugail. 2006. Cholesterolinduced caveolin targeting to lipid droplets in adipocytes: a role for caveolar endocytosis. *Traffic*. 7:549-61.
- Lehto, M., R. Hynynen, K. Karjalainen, E. Kuismanen, K. Hyvarinen, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2005. Targeting of OSBP-related protein 3 (ORP3) to endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane is controlled by multiple determinants. *Exp Cell Res.* 310:445-62.
- Lehto, M., S. Laitinen, G. Chinetti, M. Johansson, C. Ehnholm, B. Staels, E. Ikonen, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2001. The OSBP-related protein family in humans. *J Lipid Res.* 42:1203-13.
- Lehto, M., and V.M. Olkkonen. 2003. The OSBP-related proteins: a novel protein family involved in vesicle transport, cellular lipid metabolism, and cell signalling. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1631:1-11.
- Lenne, P.F., L. Wawrezinieck, F. Conchonaud, O. Wurtz, A. Boned, X.J. Guo, H. Rigneault, H.T. He, and D. Marguet. 2006. Dynamic molecular confinement in the plasma membrane by microdomains and the cytoskeleton meshwork. *Embo J.* 25:3245-56.
- Levine, T.P., and S. Munro. 2002. Targeting of Golgi-specific pleckstrin homology domains involves both PtdIns 4-kinase-dependent and independent components. *Curr Biol.* 12:695-704.
- Lewington, S., G. Whitlock, R. Clarke, P. Sherliker, J. Emberson, J. Halsey, N. Qizilbash, R. Peto, and R. Collins. 2007. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. *Lancet*. 370:1829-39.
- Li, H., and V. Papadopoulos. 1998. Peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor function in cholesterol transport. Identification of a putative cholesterol recognition/interaction amino acid sequence and consensus pattern. *Endocrinology*. 139:4991-7.
- Li, S., F. Galbiati, D. Volonte, M. Sargiacomo, J.A. Engelman, K. Das, P.E. Scherer, and M.P. Lisanti. 1998. Mutational analysis of caveolininduced vesicle formation. Expression of caveolin-1 recruits caveolin-2 to caveolae membranes. *FEBS Lett.* 434:127-34.
- Li, X., M.P. Rivas, M. Fang, J. Marchena, B. Mehrotra, A. Chaudhary, L. Feng, G.D. Prestwich, and V.A. Bankaitis. 2002. Analysis of oxysterol binding protein homologue Kes1p function in regulation of Sec14p-dependent protein transport from the yeast Golgi complex. *J Cell Biol*. 157:63-77.
- Li, Y., and W.A. Prinz. 2004. ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters mediate nonvesicular, raft-modulated sterol movement from the plasma membrane to the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem.* 279:45226-34.
- Li, Z., E. Mintzer, and R. Bittman. 2006. First synthesis of free cholesterol-BODIPY conjugates. J Org Chem. 71:1718-21.
- Lingwood, D., J. Ries, P. Schwille, and K. Simons. 2008. Plasma membranes are poised for activation of raft phase coalescence at physiological temperature. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 105:10005-10.
- Lingwood, D., and K. Simons. 2010. Lipid rafts as a membrane-organizing principle. Science. 327:46-50.
- Lipardi, C., R. Mora, V. Colomer, S. Paladino, L. Nitsch, E. Rodriguez-Boulan, and C. Zurzolo. 1998. Caveolin transfection results in caveolae formation but not apical sorting of glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins in epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol.* 140:617-26.
- Liscum, L., and N.J. Munn. 1999. Intracellular cholesterol transport. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1438:19-37.
- Listenberger, L.L., and D.A. Brown. 2007. Fluorescent detection of lipid droplets and associated proteins. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* Chapter 24:Unit 24 2.
- Loewen, C.J., A. Roy, and T.P. Levine. 2003. A conserved ER targeting motif in three families of lipid binding proteins and in Opi1p binds VAP. *Embo J.* 22:2025-35.
- Loura, L.M., A. Fedorov, and M. Prieto. 2001. Exclusion of a cholesterol analog from the cholesterol-rich phase in model membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1511:236-43.
- Low, C., R.J. Rodriguez, and L.W. Parks. 1985. Modulation of yeast plasma membrane composition of a yeast sterol auxotroph as a function of exogenous sterol. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 240:530-8.
- Mannock, D.A., R.N. Lewis, T.P. McMullen, and R.N. McElhaney. 2010. The effect of variations in phospholipid and sterol structure on the nature of lipid-sterol interactions in lipid bilayer model membranes. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 163:403-48.
- Mannock, D.A., T.J. McIntosh, X. Jiang, D.F. Covey, and R.N. McElhaney. 2003. Effects of natural and enantiomeric cholesterol on the thermotropic phase behavior and structure of egg sphingomyelin bilayer membranes. *Biophys J.* 84:1038-46.
- Martin, S., and R.G. Parton. 2005. Caveolin, cholesterol, and lipid bodies. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 16:163-74.
- Mattjus, P., R. Bittman, C. Vilcheze, and J.P. Slotte. 1995. Lateral domain formation in cholesterol/phospholipid monolayers as affected by the sterol side chain conformation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1240:237-47.
- Matyash, V., C. Geier, A. Henske, S. Mukherjee, D. Hirsh, C. Thiele, B. Grant, F.R. Maxfield, and T.V. Kurzchalia. 2001. Distribution and transport of cholesterol in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Mol Biol Cell*. 12:1725-36.
- Mayor, S., K.G. Rothberg, and F.R. Maxfield. 1994. Sequestration of GPI-anchored proteins in caveolae triggered by cross-linking. *Science*. 264:1948-51.
- McConnell, H.M., and A. Radhakrishnan. 2003. Condensed complexes of cholesterol and phospholipids. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1610:159-73.
- McMullen, T.P., B.C. Wong, E.L. Tham, R.N. Lewis, and R.N. McElhaney. 1996. Differential scanning calorimetric study of the interaction of cholesterol with the major lipids of the Acholeplasma laidlawii B membrane. *Biochemistry*. 35:16789-98.
- Megha, O. Bakht, and E. London. 2006. Cholesterol precursors stabilize ordinary and ceramide-rich ordered lipid domains (lipid rafts) to different degrees. Implications for the Bloch hypothesis and sterol biosynthesis disorders. *J Biol Chem.* 281:21903-13.

- Miller, W.L. 2007. Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR), a novel mitochondrial cholesterol transporter. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1771:663-76.
- Mobius, W., E. van Donselaar, Y. Ohno-Iwashita, Y. Shimada, H.F. Heijnen, J.W. Slot, and H.J. Geuze. 2003. Recycling compartments and the internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies harbor most of the cholesterol found in the endocytic pathway. Traffic. 4:222-31.
- Monier, S., D.J. Dietzen, W.R. Hastings, D.M. Lublin, and T.V. Kurzchalia. 1996. Oligomerization of VIP21-caveolin in vitro is stabilized by long chain fatty acylation or cholesterol. FEBS Lett. 388:143-9.
- Monier, S., R.G. Parton, F. Vogel, J. Behlke, A. Henske, and T.V. Kurzchalia. 1995. VIP21-caveolin, a membrane protein constituent of the caveolar coat, oligomerizes in vivo and in vitro. Mol Biol Cell. 6:911-27.
- Mouritsen, O.G., and M. Bloom. 1984. Mattress model of lipid-protein interactions in membranes. Biophys J. 46:141-53.
- Mouritsen, O.G., and M.J. Zuckermann. 2004. What's so special about cholesterol? Lipids. 39:1101-13.
- Mukherjee, S., X. Zha, I. Tabas, and F.R. Maxfield. 1998. Cholesterol distribution in living cells: fluorescence imaging using dehydroergosterol as a fluorescent cholesterol analog. Biophys J. 75:1915-25.
- Munro, S. 2003. Lipid rafts: elusive or illusive? Cell. 115:377-88.
- Murata, M., J. Peranen, R. Schreiner, F. Wieland, T.V. Kurzchalia, and K. Simons. 1995. VIP21/caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92:10339-43.

Murphy, D.J., and J. Vance. 1999. Mechanisms of lipid-body formation. Trends Biochem Sci. 24:109-15.

- Ngo, M., and N.D. Ridgway. 2009. Oxysterol binding protein-related Protein 9 (ORP9) is a cholesterol transfer protein that regulates Golgi structure and function. Mol Biol Cell. 20:1388-99.
- Nishimura, T., T. Inoue, N. Shibata, A. Sekine, W. Takabe, N. Noguchi, and H. Arai. 2005. Inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis by 25hydroxycholesterol is independent of OSBP. Genes Cells. 10:793-801.
- Nomura, R., and T. Fujimoto. 1999. Tyrosine-phosphorylated caveolin-1: immunolocalization and molecular characterization. Mol Biol Cell. 10:975-86.
- Ohsaki, Y., J. Cheng, M. Suzuki, A. Fujita, and T. Fujimoto. 2008. Lipid droplets are arrested in the ER membrane by tight binding of lipidated apolipoprotein B-100. J Cell Sci. 121:2415-22.
- Ohsaki, Y., J. Cheng, M. Suzuki, Y. Shinohara, A. Fujita, and T. Fujimoto. 2009. Biogenesis of cytoplasmic lipid droplets: from the lipid ester globule in the membrane to the visible structure. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1791:399-407.
- Ohtani, Y., T. Irie, K. Uekama, K. Fukunaga, and J. Pitha. 1989. Differential effects of alpha-, beta- and gamma-cyclodextrins on human erythrocytes. Eur J Biochem. 186:17-22.
- Ohvo, H., and J.P. Slotte. 1996. Cyclodextrin-mediated removal of sterols from monolayers: effects of sterol structure and phospholipids on desorption rate. Biochemistry. 35:8018-24.
- Okwu, A.K., X.X. Xu, Y. Shiratori, and I. Tabas. 1994. Regulation of the threshold for lipoprotein-induced acyl-CoA:cholesterol Oacyltransferase stimulation in macrophages by cellular sphingomyelin content. J Lipid Res. 35:644-55.
- Ortegren, U., M. Karlsson, N. Blazic, M. Blomqvist, F.H. Nystrom, J. Gustavsson, P. Fredman, and P. Stralfors. 2004. Lipids and glycosphingolipids in caveolae and surrounding plasma membrane of primary rat adipocytes. Eur J Biochem. 271:2028-36.
- Ottico, E., A. Prinetti, S. Prioni, C. Giannotta, L. Basso, V. Chigorno, and S. Sonnino. 2003. Dynamics of membrane lipid domains in neuronal cells differentiated in culture. J Lipid Res. 44:2142-51.
- Palade, G.E. 1953. Fine structure of blood capillaries. J. Appl. Phys. 24:1424.

phosphatidylinositol turnover. J Biol Chem. 273:22298-304.

changes in ER cholesterol: a delicate balance. Cell Metab. 8:512-21.

- Parks, L.W., J.H. Crowley, F.W. Leak, S.J. Smith, and M.E. Tomeo. 1999. Use of sterol mutants as probes for sterol functions in the yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 34:399-404.
- Parton, R.G., and K. Simons. 2007. The multiple faces of caveolae. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 8:185-94.
- Pelkmans, L., and M. Zerial. 2005. Kinase-regulated quantal assemblies and kiss-and-run recycling of caveolae. Nature. 436:128-33.
- Peretti, D., N. Dahan, E. Shimoni, K. Hirschberg, and S. Lev. 2008. Coordinated lipid transfer between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex requires the VAP proteins and is essential for Golgi-mediated transport. Mol Biol Cell. 19:3871-84.
- Perry, R.J., and N.D. Ridgway. 2006. Oxysterol-binding protein and vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein are required for sterol-dependent activation of the ceramide transport protein. Mol Biol Cell. 17:2604-16.
- Petrescu, A.D., A.M. Gallegos, Y. Okamura, J.F. Strauss, 3rd, and F. Schroeder. 2001. Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein binds cholesterol and modulates mitochondrial membrane sterol domain dynamics. J Biol Chem. 276:36970-82.
- Pfeifer, S.M., E.E. Furth, T. Ohba, Y.J. Chang, H. Rennert, N. Sakuragi, J.T. Billheimer, and J.F. Strauss, 3rd. 1993. Sterol carrier protein 2: a role in steroid hormone synthesis? J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 47:167-72.
- Phillips, M.C., W.J. Johnson, and G.H. Rothblat. 1987. Mechanisms and consequences of cellular cholesterol exchange and transfer. Biochim Biophys Acta. 906:223-76.

Puglielli, L., A. Rigotti, A.V. Greco, M.J. Santos, and F. Nervi. 1995. Sterol carrier protein-2 is involved in cholesterol transfer from the

Radhakrishnan, A., J.L. Goldstein, J.G. McDonald, and M.S. Brown. 2008. Switch-like control of SREBP-2 transport triggered by small

Pike, L.J. 2006. Rafts defined: a report on the Keystone Symposium on Lipid Rafts and Cell Function. J Lipid Res. 47:1597-8. Pike, L.J., and J.M. Miller. 1998. Cholesterol depletion delocalizes phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate and inhibits hormone-stimulated

endoplasmic reticulum to the plasma membrane in human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem. 270:18723-6.

- Radhakrishnan, A., Y. Ikeda, H.J. Kwon, M.S. Brown, and J.L. Goldstein. 2007. Sterol-regulated transport of SREBPs from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi: oxysterols block transport by binding to Insig. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 104:6511-8.
- Ramstedt, B., and J.P. Slotte. 1999. Interaction of cholesterol with sphingomyelins and acyl-chain-matched phosphatidylcholines: a comparative study of the effect of the chain length. Biophys J. 76:908-15.
- Rao, M., and S. Mayor. 2005. Use of Forster's resonance energy transfer microscopy to study lipid rafts. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1746:221-33.
- Raychaudhuri, S., Y.J. Im, J.H. Hurley, and W.A. Prinz. 2006. Nonvesicular sterol movement from plasma membrane to ER requires oxysterol-binding protein-related proteins and phosphoinositides. J Cell Biol. 173:107-19.
- Raychaudhuri, S., and W.A. Prinz. 2010. The diverse functions of oxysterol-binding proteins. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 26:157-77.

- Razani, B., X.B. Wang, J.A. Engelman, M. Battista, G. Lagaud, X.L. Zhang, B. Kneitz, H. Hou, Jr., G.J. Christ, W. Edelmann, and M.P. Lisanti. 2002. Caveolin-2-deficient mice show evidence of severe pulmonary dysfunction without disruption of caveolae. *Mol Cell Biol.* 22:2329-44.
- Ridgway, N.D., P.A. Dawson, Y.K. Ho, M.S. Brown, and J.L. Goldstein. 1992. Translocation of oxysterol binding protein to Golgi apparatus triggered by ligand binding. *J Cell Biol*. 116:307-19.
- Rietveld, A., and K. Simons. 1998. The differential miscibility of lipids as the basis for the formation of functional membrane rafts. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1376:467-79.
- Rodal, S.K., G. Skretting, O. Garred, F. Vilhardt, B. van Deurs, and K. Sandvig. 1999. Extraction of cholesterol with methyl-beta-cyclodextrin perturbs formation of clathrin-coated endocytic vesicles. *Mol Biol Cell*. 10:961-74.
- Rodriguez-Agudo, D., S. Ren, P.B. Hylemon, K. Redford, R. Natarajan, A. Del Castillo, G. Gil, and W.M. Pandak. 2005. Human StarD5, a cytosolic StAR-related lipid binding protein. *J Lipid Res.* 46:1615-23.
- Rone, M.B., J. Fan, and V. Papadopoulos. 2009. Cholesterol transport in steroid biosynthesis: role of protein-protein interactions and implications in disease states. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1791:646-58.
- Rosenbaum, A.I., G. Zhang, J.D. Warren, and F.R. Maxfield. 2010. Endocytosis of beta-cyclodextrins is responsible for cholesterol reduction in Niemann-Pick type C mutant cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 107:5477-82.
- Rothberg, K.G., J.E. Heuser, W.C. Donzell, Y.S. Ying, J.R. Glenney, and R.G. Anderson. 1992. Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats. *Cell*. 68:673-82.
- Rujanavech, C., and D.F. Silbert. 1986. LM cell growth and membrane lipid adaptation to sterol structure. J Biol Chem. 261:7196-203.
- Scheidt, H.A., P. Muller, A. Herrmann, and D. Huster. 2003. The potential of fluorescent and spin-labeled steroid analogs to mimic natural cholesterol. *J Biol Chem.* 278:45563-9.
- Scheiffele, P., M.G. Roth, and K. Simons. 1997. Interaction of influenza virus haemagglutinin with sphingolipid-cholesterol membrane domains via its transmembrane domain. *Embo J.* 16:5501-8.
- Schnabl, M., G. Daum, and H. Pichler. 2005. Multiple lipid transport pathways to the plasma membrane in yeast. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1687:130-40.
- Schreibman, P.H., and R.B. Dell. 1975. Human adipocyte cholesterol. Concentration, localization, synthesis, and turnover. *J Clin Invest*. 55:986-93.
- Schroeder, R., E. London, and D. Brown. 1994. Interactions between saturated acyl chains confer detergent resistance on lipids and glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins: GPI-anchored proteins in liposomes and cells show similar behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 91:12130-4.
- Schulz, T.A., M.G. Choi, S. Raychaudhuri, J.A. Mears, R. Ghirlando, J.E. Hinshaw, and W.A. Prinz. 2009. Lipid-regulated sterol transfer between closely apposed membranes by oxysterol-binding protein homologues. *J Cell Biol.* 187:889-903.
- Seedorf, U., P. Ellinghaus, and J. Roch Nofer. 2000. Sterol carrier protein-2. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1486:45-54.
- Seedorf, U., M. Raabe, P. Ellinghaus, F. Kannenberg, M. Fobker, T. Engel, S. Denis, F. Wouters, K.W. Wirtz, R.J. Wanders, N. Maeda, and G. Assmann. 1998. Defective peroxisomal catabolism of branched fatty acyl coenzyme A in mice lacking the sterol carrier protein-2/sterol carrier protein-x gene function. *Genes Dev.* 12:1189-201.
- Sever, N., T. Yang, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, and R.A. DeBose-Boyd. 2003. Accelerated degradation of HMG CoA reductase mediated by binding of insig-1 to its sterol-sensing domain. *Mol Cell*. 11:25-33.
- Severs, N.J. 1982. Cholesterol distribution and structural differentiation in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of rat cardiac muscle cells. A freezefracture cytochemical investigation. *Cell Tissue Res.* 224:613-24.
- Shaw, J.E., R.F. Epand, R.M. Epand, Z. Li, R. Bittman, and C.M. Yip. 2006. Correlated fluorescence-atomic force microscopy of membrane domains: structure of fluorescence probes determines lipid localization. *Biophys J.* 90:2170-8.
- Shimshick, E.J., and H.M. McConnell. 1973. Lateral phase separation in phospholipid membranes. *Biochemistry*. 12:2351-60.
- Shogomori, H., and D.A. Brown. 2003. Use of detergents to study membrane rafts: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Biol Chem.* 384:1259-63.
- Shogomori, H., A.T. Hammond, A.G. Ostermeyer-Fay, D.J. Barr, G.W. Feigenson, E. London, and D.A. Brown. 2005. Palmitoylation and intracellular domain interactions both contribute to raft targeting of linker for activation of T cells. *J Biol Chem*. 280:18931-42.
- Silvius, J.R., D. del Giudice, and M. Lafleur. 1996. Cholesterol at different bilayer concentrations can promote or antagonize lateral segregation of phospholipids of differing acyl chain length. *Biochemistry*. 35:15198-208.
- Simons, K., and E. Ikonen. 1997. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature. 387:569-72.
- Simons, K., and G. van Meer. 1988. Lipid sorting in epithelial cells. Biochemistry. 27:6197-202.
- Singer, S.J., and G.L. Nicolson. 1972. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. Science. 175:720-31.
- Singh, R.D., V. Puri, J.T. Valiyaveettil, D.L. Marks, R. Bittman, and R.E. Pagano. 2003. Selective caveolin-1-dependent endocytosis of glycosphingolipids. *Mol Biol Cell*. 14:3254-65.
- Skiba, P.J., X. Zha, F.R. Maxfield, S.L. Schissel, and I. Tabas. 1996. The distal pathway of lipoprotein-induced cholesterol esterification, but not sphingomyelinase-induced cholesterol esterification, is energy-dependent. *J Biol Chem*. 271:13392-400.
- Slotte, J.P., G. Hedstrom, S. Rannstrom, and S. Ekman. 1989. Effects of sphingomyelin degradation on cell cholesterol oxidizability and steady-state distribution between the cell surface and the cell interior. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 985:90-6.
- Soccio, R.E., R.M. Adams, K.N. Maxwell, and J.L. Breslow. 2005. Differential gene regulation of StarD4 and StarD5 cholesterol transfer proteins. Activation of StarD4 by sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2 and StarD5 by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *J Biol Chem.* 280:19410-8.
- Somerharju, P., J.A. Virtanen, K.H. Cheng, and M. Hermansson. 2009. The superlattice model of lateral organization of membranes and its implications on membrane lipid homeostasis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1788:12-23.
- Stefanova, I., V. Horejsi, I.J. Ansotegui, W. Knapp, and H. Stockinger. 1991. GPI-anchored cell-surface molecules complexed to protein tyrosine kinases. *Science*. 254:1016-9.
- Stockton, G.W., and I.C. Smith. 1976. A deuterium nuclear magnetic resonance study of the condensing effect of cholesterol on egg phosphatidylcholine bilayer membranes. I. Perdeuterated fatty acid probes. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 17:251-63.
- Suchanek, M., R. Hynynen, G. Wohlfahrt, M. Lehto, M. Johansson, H. Saarinen, A. Radzikowska, C. Thiele, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2007. The mammalian oxysterol-binding protein-related proteins (ORPs) bind 25-hydroxycholesterol in an evolutionarily conserved pocket. *Biochem J.* 405:473-80.
- Suzuki, K.G., T.K. Fujiwara, F. Sanematsu, R. lino, M. Edidin, and A. Kusumi. 2007. GPI-anchored receptor clusters transiently recruit Lyn and G alpha for temporary cluster immobilization and Lyn activation: single-molecule tracking study 1. *J Cell Biol*. 177:717-30.

- Tagawa, A., A. Mezzacasa, A. Hayer, A. Longatti, L. Pelkmans, and A. Helenius. 2005. Assembly and trafficking of caveolar domains in the cell: caveolae as stable, cargo-triggered, vesicular transporters. *J Cell Biol.* 170:769-79.
- Tang, Z., P.E. Scherer, T. Okamoto, K. Song, C. Chu, D.S. Kohtz, I. Nishimoto, H.F. Lodish, and M.P. Lisanti. 1996. Molecular cloning of caveolin-3, a novel member of the caveolin gene family expressed predominantly in muscle. *J Biol Chem*. 271:2255-61.
- Tauchi-Sato, K., S. Ozeki, T. Houjou, R. Taguchi, and T. Fujimoto. 2002. The surface of lipid droplets is a phospholipid monolayer with a unique Fatty Acid composition. *J Biol Chem*. 277:44507-12.
- Taylor, F.R., S.E. Saucier, E.P. Shown, E.J. Parish, and A.A. Kandutsch. 1984. Correlation between oxysterol binding to a cytosolic binding protein and potency in the repression of hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase. *J Biol Chem*. 259:12382-7.
- Tontonoz, P., and D.J. Mangelsdorf. 2003. Liver X receptor signaling pathways in cardiovascular disease. Mol Endocrinol. 17:985-93.
- Truong, T.Q., D. Aubin, L. Falstrault, M.R. Brodeur, and L. Brissette. 2010. SR-BI, CD36, and caveolin-1 contribute positively to cholesterol efflux in hepatic cells. *Cell Biochem Funct*. 28:480-9.
- Tsujishita, Y., and J.H. Hurley. 2000. Structure and lipid transport mechanism of a StAR-related domain. Nat Struct Biol. 7:408-14.
- Upla, P., V. Marjomaki, P. Kankaanpaa, J. Ivaska, T. Hyypia, F.G. Van Der Goot, and J. Heino. 2004. Clustering induces a lateral redistribution of alpha 2 beta 1 integrin from membrane rafts to caveolae and subsequent protein kinase C-dependent internalization. *Mol Biol Cell*. 15:625-36.
- Urbani, L., and R.D. Simoni. 1990. Cholesterol and vesicular stomatitis virus G protein take separate routes from the endoplasmic reticulum to the plasma membrane. *J Biol Chem.* 265:1919-23.
- Vainio, S., S. Heino, J.E. Mansson, P. Fredman, E. Kuismanen, O. Vaarala, and E. Ikonen. 2002. Dynamic association of human insulin receptor with lipid rafts in cells lacking caveolae. *EMBO Rep.* 3:95-100.
- Vainio, S., M. Jansen, M. Koivusalo, T. Rog, M. Karttunen, I. Vattulainen, and E. Ikonen. 2006. Significance of sterol structural specificity. Desmosterol cannot replace cholesterol in lipid rafts. *J Biol Chem.* 281:348-55.
- van Meer, G. 1998. Lipids of the Golgi membrane. Trends Cell Biol. 8:29-33.
- van Meer, G., E.H. Stelzer, R.W. Wijnaendts-van-Resandt, and K. Simons. 1987. Sorting of sphingolipids in epithelial (Madin-Darby canine kidney) cells. *J Cell Biol.* 105:1623-35.
- Wang, N., D. Lan, W. Chen, F. Matsuura, and A.R. Tall. 2004. ATP-binding cassette transporters G1 and G4 mediate cellular cholesterol efflux to high-density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 101:9774-9.
- Wang, P., W. Duan, A.L. Munn, and H. Yang. 2005a. Molecular characterization of Osh6p, an oxysterol binding protein homolog in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Febs J.* 272:4703-15.
- Wang, P.Y., J. Weng, and R.G. Anderson. 2005b. OSBP is a cholesterol-regulated scaffolding protein in control of ERK 1/2 activation. Science. 307:1472-6.
- Wang, P.Y., J. Weng, S. Lee, and R.G. Anderson. 2008. The N terminus controls sterol binding while the C terminus regulates the scaffolding function of OSBP. J Biol Chem. 283:8034-45.
- Warnock, D.E., C. Roberts, M.S. Lutz, W.A. Blackburn, W.W. Young, Jr., and J.U. Baenziger. 1993. Determination of plasma membrane lipid mass and composition in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells using high gradient magnetic affinity chromatography. J Biol Chem. 268:10145-53.
- Wechsler, A., A. Brafman, M. Shafir, M. Heverin, H. Gottlieb, G. Damari, S. Gozlan-Kelner, I. Spivak, O. Moshkin, E. Fridman, Y. Becker, R. Skaliter, P. Einat, A. Faerman, I. Bjorkhem, and E. Feinstein. 2003. Generation of viable cholesterol-free mice. *Science*. 302:2087.
- Wenz, J.J., and F.J. Barrantes. 2003. Steroid structural requirements for stabilizing or disrupting lipid domains. *Biochemistry*. 42:14267-76.
- Westover, E.J., and D.F. Covey. 2004. The enantiomer of cholesterol. J Membr Biol. 202:61-72.
- Vihervaara, T., R.L. Uronen, G. Wohlfahrt, I. Bjorkhem, E. Ikonen, and V.M. Olkkonen. 2010. Sterol binding by OSBP-related protein 1L regulates late endosome motility and function. *Cell Mol Life Sci.*
- Wustner, D., A. Herrmann, M. Hao, and F.R. Maxfield. 2002. Rapid nonvesicular transport of sterol between the plasma membrane domains of polarized hepatic cells. *J Biol Chem.* 277:30325-36.
- Wustner, D., M. Mondal, I. Tabas, and F.R. Maxfield. 2005. Direct observation of rapid internalization and intracellular transport of sterol by macrophage foam cells. *Traffic*. 6:396-412.
- Wyles, J.P., and N.D. Ridgway. 2004. VAMP-associated protein-A regulates partitioning of oxysterol-binding protein-related protein-9 between the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus. *Exp Cell Res.* 297:533-47.
- Xu, F., S.D. Rychnovsky, J.D. Belani, H.H. Hobbs, J.C. Cohen, and R.B. Rawson. 2005. Dual roles for cholesterol in mammalian cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102:14551-6.
- Xu, X., R. Bittman, G. Duportail, D. Heissler, C. Vilcheze, and E. London. 2001. Effect of the structure of natural sterols and sphingolipids on the formation of ordered sphingolipid/sterol domains (rafts). Comparison of cholesterol to plant, fungal, and disease-associated sterols and comparison of sphingomyelin, cerebrosides, and ceramide. J Biol Chem. 276:33540-6.
- Xu, X., and E. London. 2000. The effect of sterol structure on membrane lipid domains reveals how cholesterol can induce lipid domain formation. *Biochemistry*. 39:843-9.
- Yan, D., and V.M. Olkkonen. 2008. Characteristics of oxysterol binding proteins. Int Rev Cytol. 265:253-85.
- Yeagle, P.L., J. Young, and D. Rice. 1988. Effects of cholesterol on (Na+,K+)-ATPase ATP hydrolyzing activity in bovine kidney. *Biochemistry*. 27:6449-52.
- Yetukuri, L., K. Ekroos, A. Vidal-Puig, and M. Oresic. 2008. Informatics and computational strategies for the study of lipids. *Mol Biosyst.* 4:121-7.
- Zhang, M., P. Liu, N.K. Dwyer, L.K. Christenson, T. Fujimoto, F. Martinez, M. Comly, J.A. Hanover, E.J. Blanchette-Mackie, and J.F. Strauss, 3rd. 2002. MLN64 mediates mobilization of lysosomal cholesterol to steroidogenic mitochondria. *J Biol Chem.* 277:33300-10.